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A WORD ABOUT PAK BRUNEI
INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
Pak Brunei Investment Company is a full service
Investment Finance Company established as a joint
venture between Government of Pakistan and Brunei
Investment Agency (BIA). The Company received
certificate of commencement of business from State
Bank of Pakistan in August 2007.

Pak Brunei has established active platforms for its
Project Finance, Corporate Finance & Advisory
Services, Treasury/Trading and Distribution as well
as Capital Market operations in its quest to be a
full service merchant banking outfit. Since
commencement, the Company successfully closed
several syndicated finance mandates (cumulatively
PKR 27 billion) as Lead and Joint Arranger.

Future plans involve growth through establishment
of specialized vehicles for Private Equity and Venture
Capital, Asset Management and REITs, to provide
support for high growth companies and add depth
to debt & capital markets. These vehicles will also
allow us to attract foreign direct and portfolio
investment into Pakistan. By channelizing our
exposures through these specialized vehicles, the
Company will be able to focus on activities such as
project financing on a larger scale.

Since inception, the Company has resourced a team
of 30 experienced and energetic professionals
including MBAs, Chartered Accountants, CFAs, FRMs,
and Civil Engineers.
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Pak Brunei aims to be at the vanguard of
innovation in Merchant Banking, offering the
best solutions to our clients, value to our
shareholders and a challenging, equal-
opportunity environment to our employees.

Pak Brunei will play a role in the
economic progress and development
of Pakistan by providing an entire range
of advisory services as well as financial
support to viable projects in high
growth sectors of the economy.

CORPORATE VISION

MISSION STATEMENT
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INTEGRITY
Be honest, professional and fair in all our dealings
with all our stakeholders.

PERFORMANCE
Be result-oriented and encourage a competitive
culture.

INNOVATION
Look beyond conventional wisdom.

TEAMWORK
Have shared goals and objectives.

FOCUS
Understand our customers’ needs and try to
exceed expectations.

CORE VALUES
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1.INTEGRITY
Employees shall:

• Perform our work with honesty, diligence and 
responsibility;

• Not knowingly be a party to any illegal activity or
engage in any acts that are discreditable to the 
Company;

• Not participate in any activity or relationship that
may impair or be presumed to impair our unbiased
assessment. This participation includes those 
activities or relationships that may be in conflict 
with the interests of the Company;

• Not accept any gift or consideration that may impair
or be presumed to impair our professional judgment;

• Exercise maximum caution in making sure that 
information given to customers is free of errors, 
making it as truthful and honest as can be.

2.OBJECTIVITY
Employees shall:

• Ensure that all operational activities and decision 
making processes focus on achievements of the 
Company’s objectives and are in line with the 
mission statement of the Company;

• Disclose all material facts known to us that if not 
disclosed, may distort the reporting of business 
proposals under review.

3.CONFIDENTIAL AND PROPRIETARY 
INFORMATION
Employees shall:

• Protect against the disclosure of sensitive and 
confidential information about our customers and 
employees unless disclosure is authorized and withlaw;

• Safeguard against the disclosure of sensitive and 
confidential information about our fellow employees
and the Company as a whole, unless authorized to
do so.

4.IMPROPER INFLUENCE
Employees shall:

• Strictly prohibit from giving, soliciting or accepting
business courtesies or gifts intended to influence 
business decisions;

• Make all business decisions on the merit of the 
transaction and in compliance with any legal and
regulatory requirements.

5.UNFAIR BUSINESS PRACTICES
Employees shall:

• Refrain from unfair and deceptive business practices
e.g., unauthorized and counterproductive use of 
the Company’s resources, the misuse of proprietary
information or the misrepresentation and 
concealment of material facts.

6.INSIDER TRADING
Employees shall:

• Prohibit from disclosing “inside information” to others
or use for our own benefit;

• Abide by the “insider trading” laws that prohibit from
buying and selling stock with advance knowledge 
of important Company information that is unavailable
to the general public. Such information may include
proposed mergers or acquisitions, new equity or 
debt offering.

7.RECORDING AND REPORTING OF THE
COMPANY
Employees shall:

• Ensure that all business related information/
transactions are recorded and reported accurately,
honestly and in a timely manner. Accuracy of all 
Company records extends to financial statements,
loan documents, regulatory bodies and other 
government agencies;

• Ensure that no funds or accounts should be 
established for a purpose that is not fully reflected
in the books and records of Pak Brunei whether 
pertaining to receipts or disbursements.

8.COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS, RULES AND
REGULATIONS
Employees shall:

• Comply with all applicable laws, rules and regulations.

9.PROTECTION AND PROPER USE OF 
COMPANY ASSETS
Employees shall:

• Ensure that all the Company’s assets are used for 
authorized and legitimate business purposes;

• Protect the Company’s assets e.g., computer 
equipment and software, intellectual property, etc.,
and ensure that those assets efficiently and properly
used in respect of all Company related activities.

CODE OF ETHICS AND BUSINESS PRACTICES
Pak Brunei seeks to maintain high standards of service and ethics enabling it to be perceived as impartial, ethical
and independent. In addition to the general guidelines, the following are the salient features of the Company’s
code of ethics and business practices.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Dr. Hj Mohammed Amin Liew bin Abdullah - Chairman
Ms. Sumaira K. Aslam - Director
Mr. Junaidi bin Haji Masri - Director
Ms. Ayesha Aziz - Managing Director

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Dr. Hj Mohammed Amin Liew bin Abdullah - Chairman
Ms. Sumaira K. Aslam - Member
Mr. Junaidi bin Haji Masri - Member

HUMAN RESOURCE COMMITTEE
Mr. Junaidi bin Haji Masri - Chairman
Ms. Sumaira K. Aslam - Member
Ms. Ayesha Aziz - Member

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Abdul Hafeez

STATUTORY AUDITORS
M. Yousuf Adil Saleem & Company (A member firm of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu)
Chartered Accountants

TAX CONSULTANT
A.F. Ferguson & Company (A member firm of PriceWaterHouseCoopers)
Chartered Accountants

LEGAL ADVISOR
Ijaz Ahmed & Associates

REGISTERED HEAD OFFICE
Khadija Towers, Plot No. 11/5, Scheme No. 5, Block-2, Clifton, Karachi.
Tel: +9221-35361215-19, Fax: +9221-35361213

WEBSITE
www.pakbrunei.com.pk

CORPORATE INFORMATION
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INSTITUTION BUILDING
The Board and Management of the Company have played their respective roles in
establishing a strong and resilient institution capable of providing sustainable returns
to shareholders and meeting long term objectives.
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STRATEGIC GUIDANCE
Strategic guidance provided by the Board of Directors has been critical to the Company’s
progress. With extensive local and international exposure, the involvement of the Board has
helped the Management  in establishing strong foundations and meeting important milestones.
During the economic turmoil of 2008, the Board’s direction helped Management make timely
decisions to cut exposures prior to the subsequent deterioration in capital and money markets.
Shareholder support through the Board has been constant and has allowed Management to
take several new initiatives in order to meet long term goals.

THE TEAM
A team of 30 experienced professionals from local and foreign institutions including MBAs,
Chartered Accountants, CFA Charterholders, FRMs, and Civil Engineers bring together
specialized and diverse skill sets. Astute leadership brings this young and savvy team together
to work on shared goals. The pride and sense of ownership of the team has helped create
a healthy and competitive work environment.

SYSTEMS & CONTROLS
Pak Brunei has been rated AA (long term) for two consecutive years by the external rating
agency. Our rating is based on a strong management team and sound infrastructure backed
by effective systems and controls. While revenue generation remains a key objective,
this is carried out under a constantly evolving and stringent risk management framework.
Responsible corporate citizenship and strong ethical values remain an integral part of
our culture.

INSTITUTION
BUILDING
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MR. JUNAIDI
BIN HAJI MASRI

DIRECTOR

DR. HJ MOHAMMED AMIN
LIEW BIN ABDULLAH

CHAIRMAN

MS. SUMAIRA K. ASLAM
DIRECTOR

MS. AYESHA AZIZ
MANAGING DIRECTOR

BOARD OF DIRECTORS



DR. HJ MOHAMMED AMIN LIEW BIN
ABDULLAH, CFA
CHAIRMAN

Dr. Amin is the Managing Director of Brunei Investment
Agency that oversees the General Reserve Fund of the
Government of Brunei. He is also Permanent Secretary
at the Ministry of Finance.

Dr. Amin graduated with a Masters Degree in
Management in 1989 and a Doctorate in Corporate
Finance in 1993 from Imperial College, University of
London. He is a CFA Charterholder and member of the
CFA Society in Singapore.

MR. JUNAIDI BIN HAJI MASRI
DIRECTOR

Mr. Masri joined the Brunei Investment Agency in 1991.
As Assistant Managing Director, he heads Venture
Capital and Strategic Investments and manages the
Agency's investments across several countries.

He has a deep understanding of international markets
and asset classes. Mr. Masri holds a B.Sc. Degree in
Computer and Management Sciences from Keele
University, United Kingdom.

MS. SUMAIRA K. ASLAM
DIRECTOR

Ms. Sumaira holds finance degrees from Massachusetts,
LSE, and Georgetown University, followed by numerous
trainings given by reputable institutes like the World
Bank and IMF. She has been on teaching faculty
of UMASS, Amherst; Williams College, USA.

Sumaira brings over twenty five years of experience
in Public Finance, Commerce and Trade, issues relating
to Government, Multinationals and International

agencies. She has worked in the Ministry of Finance,
Pakistan in various positions and also worked as
Commercial Counselor and Alternate Permanent
Representative to UNESCAP for Pakistan in Bangkok.

MS. AYESHA AZIZ, CFA
MANAGING DIRECTOR

Ms. Aziz brings with her over 18 years of experience
in Structured Finance, Private Equity and Strategic
Advisory businesses. She started her career from ANZ
Grindlays Bank and worked in Merchant Banking and
Treasury Markets Divisions. She was also involved in
establishing and managing business operations and

subsidiaries of Pak Oman Investment Company in
senior roles.

Ms. Aziz is an MBA from the Institute of Business
Administration and a CFA Charterholder.

INSTITUTION
BUILDING
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THE TEAM
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Abdul Jaleel Shaikh Group Head Operations
Karim Hatim, FCA Group Head Advisory and Strategic Investments
Abdul Hafeez, ACA CFO & Company Secretary
Ihsanullah Ihsan Head of Corporate Banking
Tariq Ahsan Head of Treasury
Sadaf Aliuddin, CFA, FRM Head of Risk Management
Ahmed Ateeq Head of Money Market (Fixed Income & Distribution)
Syed Misbah Maqbool Head of Capital Markets
Faiza Kapadia Raffay Head of Legal & Corporate Affairs
Lubna Khalid Head of Credit Administration
Syed Askary Haider Rizvi Head of Internal Audit
Sultan Abid Head of Compliance
M. M Pervez A. Baig Head of Finance
Muhammad Bashir Senior Incharge Administration & HR

INSTITUTION
BUILDING
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SYSTEMS & CONTROLS
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BOARD COMMITTEES

AUDIT COMMITTEE (AC)
Audit Committee responsibilities include reviewing
reports of the Company’s financial results, monitoring
internal audit functions and compliance with relevant
statutory requirements, assisting the Board of Directors
in discharging responsibilities for safeguarding of
Company’s assets, development and implementation
of an effective internal control system.
The Audit Committee meets prior to the approval of
the financial statements by the Board of Directors on
quarterly basis. The Audit Committee comprises of the
following non-executive directors:

1. Dr. Hj Mohammad Amin Liew bin Abdullah
Chairman

2. Ms. Sumaira K. Aslam
Member

3. Mr. Junaidi bin Haji Masri
Member

HUMAN RESOURCES COMMITTEE (HRC)
The HRC reviews and recommends human resource
policies and procedures, compensation, increments,
performance bonus, training and development, etc. to
the Board.
The HRC meets as appropriate but not less than once
in a year. The HRC comprises of the following:

1. Mr. Junaidi bin Haji Masri
Chairman

2. Ms. Sumaira K. Aslam
Member

3. Ms. Ayesha Aziz
Member

MANAGEMENT COMMITTEES

CREDIT COMMITTEE
The Credit Committee approves credit proposals
involving funded/non-funded exposures. It reviews the
credit policy including sectoral and group exposure
limits and takes corrective measures to ensure they are
within limits. The committee also ensures adequacy of
controls placed to identify and address the issues in a
timely manner.

ASSET & LIABILITY COMMITTEE (ALCO)
ALCO manages the structure and composition of
Company’s assets and liabilities and decides product
pricing for deposits and advances. It reviews maturity
profile, mix of short term/long term assets, liabilities
and foresees interest rates to decide funding policy of
the Company. The committee also takes decisions on
investment related matters as per policy approved by
the Board of Directors.

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
The committee focuses on credit and other risks under
the Risk Management framework. It is responsible for
identifying, assessing, addressing, reviewing and
reporting Company wide risks. It also identifies and
analyzes existing and potential risks inherent in any
product/activity. Further, the committee is responsible
for implementation of Basel II policies and risk
management mechanism.

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY (IT) STEERING
COMMITTEE
The committee oversees effective use of IT resources
to support business objectives, identifies IT related risks
and provides guidance in designing and modifying the
IT policy to cope with the related risks. It also ensures
implementation of IT guidelines issued by the SBP from
time to time specially relating to Business Continuity
Planning.

INSTITUTION
BUILDING
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yr
2007

15

Between June and August, the focus was exclusively
on preparation and approval of comprehensive
Business Plan. Detailed HR policies were approved in
order to attract best human capital.

Operations commenced formally from September
and a very strong momentum was generated due to
management’s ability to make timely decisions backed
by a fully involved and supportive Board. Within 4
months, an operational platform had been established
and revenue generated from multiple sources.



TREASURY & FUNDS MANAGEMENT

Immediately upon commencement, systems and controls were put in place so that Treasury
activities could be undertaken with adequate middle office monitoring. Once a basic operating
framework was in place, money market lines were established with other financial institutions.
From the start, the Company strategy has been to build a credit portfolio through loans and
advances as well as marketable debt instruments such as TFCs, Sukuk and Commercial Paper.
This strategy protects liquidity through options of divestment/securitization of TFC portfolio.

CAPITAL MARKETS

Capital Market trading activity started in September 2007 with the induction of a core team
of professional chartists and settlement resources. The team provided its input in the
preparation of a detailed investment policy document and operational controls were put in
place through a well tested Portfolio Management System. During this period of 108 trading
days, the Company realized total income of PKR 56 million outperforming the benchmark
KSE-100 Index by three times against an average portfolio size of PKR 232 million only.

CORPORATE BANKING

CBG worked closely with other departments to develop robust risk assessment criteria that
not only took financial performance of potential borrowers into account, but also assigned
substantial value to qualitative factors such as industry dynamics, management quality,
market reputation and track record. Working together, a sound control mechanism and
monitoring framework was developed within a short time period.

yr
2007
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LEGAL AND CORPORATE AFFAIRS
A Legal department was established immediately upon commencement of business so
that risks could be identified and adequately covered from the start. The unit played an
active role in all aspects of operations, ranging from giving input in internal policy and
procedures, preparing/reviewing standard documentation for each type of transaction and
proactively identifying potential legal issues in every aspect of Company operations.

RISK MANAGEMENT
The initial departmental setup and establishment of risk identification and control framework
was a challenging and exciting assignment as it provided the opportunity to implement best
practices to suit the evolving needs of the organization.

A forward looking Risk Manual was developed as a first step. The manual defined the continuing
role and evolution of risk activities as business and system maturation takes place.

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY
Pak Brunei commenced business in 3rd quarter of 2007. Within weeks, basic networking and
LAN infrastructure was in place. From the first day, strong controls were implemented starting
from data backups on remote servers.

The company procured, customized and implemented integrated technology systems for
each department and remains committed to continuous development on this front.

yr
2007
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ADVISORY & STRATEGIC INVESTMENT GROUP
A seven member team was inducted from local and foreign banks, brokerage companies and
private equity funds bringing together diverse skill sets. Initially the team partnered on
Advisory transactions with other financial institutions. Within the first four months of
Company’s operations, fee income of Rs 12.4 million was realized.

HUMAN RESOURCE
A thorough assessment of the market was undertaken in order to be able to engage the best
human resource in each area. The HR policy was carefully prepared with the help of professional
consultants while taking into consideration the special needs of an institution such as ours.
We pride ourselves on having a conducive and modern work environment which is totally
performance driven.

yr
2007
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yr
2008

19

The focus in the first full year of operations was on
strengthening systems, controls and resources in
each area. Fully equipped and modern physical
infrastructure was also established.

Driven by market liquidity, an aggressive asset build
up strategy was pursued in the first half of the year.
However, as early indicators of economic reversal
started appearing, Management took a number of
protective steps. Balance sheet footing was reduced
significantly as the Company made timely exits from
exposures on vulnerable sectors/counterparts. This
was a major achievement as subsequent market
turmoil was largely evaded.



TREASURY AND FUND MANAGEMENT
2008 was a difficult year for global financial markets. In Pakistan a number of smaller financial
institutions went through acute liquidity stress. In Pak Brunei potential risks were identified
prior to the series of defaults that occurred during the last quarter. Early divestment
from fixed income mutual funds helped avert loss from rapidly declining NAVs.
Timely conversion of money market exposures into secured lines which were subsequently
completely extinguished also helped avoid the liquidity driven default risk of NBFCs.

In view of market volatility, a conscious strategy of shrinking balance sheet footing was
adopted as unsecured and illiquid exposures were reduced. This defensive strategy helped
us maintain liquidity and allowed selective buying of attractively priced fixed income
instruments. Pak Brunei operated one of the most active corporate bond trading desks backed
by a strong distribution network. This has encouraged other institutions to follow and provide
depth to the market.

CAPITAL MARKETS
The market experienced extreme volatility during 2008. A floor on KSE prices was
imposed that resulted in flight of liquidity and disruption to the entire market mechanism.
Pak Brunei divested more than 75% of its equity portfolio positions by April 2008 when
KSE100 was above 14,000 thereby avoiding the subsequent historic market crash.

During this year, PBIC streamlined its equity investment framework and established an Equity
Investment Committee to ensure disciplined trading while maintaining high ethical standards.
The CFA Code of Ethics is religiously followed.

Capital preservation in this period of massive volatility was achieved.

CORPORATE BANKING
As credit exposures were predominantly booked through TFCs and other fixed income
instruments from the secondary market, the corporate banking team worked with Treasury
and Risk in identifying and evaluating available TFCs for trading and investment portfolios
of the Company.

A forward looking business platform was developed and while credit off-take was slow, a
number of new relationships were developed. Defensive sectors with growth prospects,
inelastic demand and the ability to weather out difficult market conditions were identified
for addition to the portfolio.

yr
2008
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RISK MANAGEMENT
Comprehensive internal rating models were developed and implemented catering to different
economic segments and product types. In addition, access terminal to VISTA-Plus System
was acquired to simultaneously validate the rating results of internal models. We were able
to test these models in the volatile economic scenario witnessed during the year while the
systematic validation of these models will take place once sufficient data points are available.

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY
After 5 months of operations, a fire broke out before office hours resulting in extensive
damage to office premises. With complete data back-up and due to 100% insurance, operations
were carried out from new premises without any financial or operational loss. Temporary
office space was arranged immediately. This was a practical demonstration of BCP and DRP
that the team is proud of.

yr
2008
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HUMAN RESOURCE
People across various departments proceeded on training courses throughout the year. Apart
from external training, the Company also focused on constant development through intense
in-house training where understanding and implementation of internal policy and regulatory
framework were tested at regular intervals. These practices have contributed in the credit
rating agency’s positive assessment of the quality and motivation of our human resources.

ADVISORY & STRATEGIC INVESTMENT GROUP
In this year, long term funding to the tune of PKR 7.7 billion was raised for a number of clients
through listed and privately placed debt instruments as well as fresh equity offerings. The
Company also participated in these syndicates and helped build its own credit portfolio. Close
working relationships were forged with various market counterparts, regulatory agencies,
credit rating agencies and end investors. This helped generate new partnerships and a strong
platform for future business.

22
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The team worked hard to consolidate and grow in
selective areas. Debt and Capital markets remained
volatile and the Company made excellent use of
arbitrages and opportunities thus presented to earn
high risk adjusted return on capital. Project Finance
and Advisory mandates were aggressively solicited and
the total credit portfolio further diversified
by adding new blue chip names while continuing to
successfully shed assets perceived to be in weak sectors.
For a second year, the Company maintained its
comparative edge over peers in terms of credit rating.
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TREASURY AND FUNDS MANAGEMENT
Treasury continued to make use of opportunities to acquire high yield corporate bonds.
Working closely with Corporate and Credit teams of the Company, credit risk was assessed
and appropriately priced and the portfolio built provided excellent capital gains as well as
mark up income during the year.

Anticipating a reduction in interest rates, some fixed rate exposures were booked through
PIBs and Interest Rate Swaps at the beginning of the year. In view of uncertainties on key
economic indicators, substantial investment was made in Treasury Bills. Interbank exposures
were limited to strong counterparts.

A unit for resource mobilization was established within Treasury and special efforts made to
generate deposits through Certificate of Investments (COI). In future, alternate funding
sources such as long term bonds and short term Commercial Paper for funding from non-
bank sources will be tapped.

CORPORATE BANKING
Corporate Banking showed a steady growth in terms of team strength and book size. CBG’s
close working relationships with other departments has been greatly beneficial. With overall
liquidity deteriorating rapidly in third quarter of 2008, clean Interbank exposures taken by
Treasury were downgraded. Corporate team acted proactively and took these assets
subsequently, converting these clean exposures into short term facilities secured against the
best available assets of the counterparts. By year end, these exposures had been almost
totally eliminated.

CAPITAL MARKETS
During this year, PBIC’s Equity team earned a total return of 42% p.a. on average investment
comfortably surpassing its budgeted targets. In addition to the advancement in investments
policy framework, the team also helped develop Standard Operating Procedures for appraising
operational risk factors.

ADVISORY & STRATEGIC INVESTMENT
A number of new advisory mandates were awarded to the Company involving mergers and
acquisitions within various sectors. The team was also engaged in supporting new initiatives
involving project financing in Agro, Energy and Chemical sectors.

yr

2009
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PKR in '000s 2009 2008 2007

Balance Sheet

Lendings to financial institutions  1,507,910  1,519,299  1,464,299
Investments  8,415,996  2,687,585  1,956,095
Advances  1,732,493  1,062,744  254,444
Borrowings  5,296,808  186,154  1,150,000
Deposits and other accounts  395,000  -    -
Total Assets  12,130,979  5,528,893  4,362,474
Net Assets  6,305,979  5,281,160  3,136,278
Paid-up Capital 5,000,000 5,000,000 3,000,000

Profit & Loss
Mark up income  971,221  672,254  177,507
Mark up expense  207,450  131,801  630
Non mark up income  254,064  85,608  67,299
Non mark up expense  132,743  118,675  57,635
Gross income  1,225,285  757,862  244,806
Profit before provision and tax  885,092  507,386  186,541
Provisions  217,918  133,921  -
Profit before tax  667,174  373,465  186,541
Profit after tax  447,453  222,266  140,743

Investors Information
Profit before tax ratio                                                  54% 49% 76%
Gross spread ratio 79% 80% 100%
Return on assets                                              5% 4% 3%
Return on equity                                               8% 5% 4%
Earning asset to total asset ratio              98% 96% 90%
EPS (Earning per share)-PKR                                    0.89 0.52 0.75
Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR)                                 81% 138% 114%

Summary of Cash Flow Statement
Cash flow from operating activities 5,487,232  (1,218,859)  (852,802)
Cash flow from investing activities (5,786,148)  (1,025,606)  (1,879,809)
Cash flow from financing activities 495,563  1,995,881  3,000,332
Cash & cash equivalent at the beginning of the year  19,137  267,721  -
Cash & cash equivalent at the end of the year 215,784  19,137  267,721

3 YEARS PERFORMANCE AT A GLANCE
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ENTITY RATING

Assigned by PACRA

Medium to Long Term AA (Double A)
This denotes a very low expectation of credit risk indicating a very strong
capacity for timely payment of financial commitment. This capacity is not
significantly vulnerable to foreseeable events.

Short Term A1+ (A One Plus)
This denotes that obligations are supported by a strong capacity for timely
repayments.
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CHAIRMAN’S REVIEW
I am pleased to present the financial results of Pak
Brunei for the year 2009 reflecting outstanding
performance in a challenging economic environment.
The Company succeeded in achieving significant asset
growth by pursuing sectors and clients with strong
fundamentals and stable industry dynamics.

Total assets more than doubled to PKR 12 billion during
the year with net profits at PKR 447 million. Balance
Sheet growth was supported by strengthening the core
team brought together in year 2008 while
organizational framework continued to be further
improved in line with best practices.

2009: The Year of Consolidation
During the global financial crisis of 2008, Pakistan’s
economy initially demonstrated some resilience aided
by the rise in worker remittances. This could not arrest
deterioration in key economic indicators and the
subsequent decline in real GDP growth from 4.1% in
2008 to 2.0% in 2009. After GoP’s adoption of IMF-led
stabilization program and decline in international oil
prices, the economy has shown recovery from 3Q-2009
onwards along with narrowing current account deficit
and a declining rate of depreciation. As signs of
disinflation started becoming visible, State Bank of
Pakistan reduced the Discount Rate by 250 bps to 12.5%.
In this backdrop, new political developments and the
energy crisis continued to impact the stabilization
efforts  of  Pakistan’s  economic managers.

Expectations for 2010
There are mixed signals as the economy moves into
2010. Although economic stabilization has become
evident, risks of slippage in budgetary financing and
increasing inflation can slow down the recovery process.
The manufacturing sector has shown improvement,
but  circular debt  remains unresolved and the energy
deficit continues to be of grave concern. The shift from
stabilization to growth may be slower than desired and
lag behind global economic recovery.

Remittances and re-initiation of portfolio investment
would continue improving external indicators in short-
to-medium term. However, an uptick in international
commodity prices cannot be ruled out given stronger
than expected global economic recovery, which would
burden the trade balance.Conservatively, all of these
factors point towards 5-6% exchange rate depreciation
in 2010.

Owing to inflation expectations we feel SBP will have
limited room to follow an expansionary monetary
policy. Given the uncertainty surrounding bilateral

funding, liquidity issues may remain in the short term,
which would keep interest rates downward sticky.

Company Strategy going forward
Pak Brunei has acted proactively on all fronts. The core
focus has been on preservation of asset quality led by
three-tiered  risk assessment starting at the level of the
asset managers themselves, followed by independent
risk review and then at the level of various Committees.
The objective at each stage is to not only evaluate the
viability of the prospective relationship, but also assess
their strategic fit in Pak Brunei’s portfolio as a whole.
We have also been affected by weak performing clients
in our portfolio. However, there has been a well thought
out exit strategy leading to considerable ongoing
reduction in such exposures.

Pak Brunei has been quick to preempt major interest
rate moves in the market and capitalize on opportunities
thus presented which are reflected in the financial
performance throughout the 28 months of operations.
Fresh credit exposures to blue chip companies were
booked at times when yields were at their maximum.
Correctly interpreting the market sentiment and
volatility, the capital markets team has also played
smart by taking small positions in viable stocks with
high turnover, contributing to profitability. Liquidity
levels have been well-preserved.

Pak Brunei remains proactive in responding
to genuine corporate needs for viable projects while
protecting its own interests. Asset growth has been
targeted in defensive sectors such as Food, Fertilizer,
Pharmaceutical, Agriculture and Energy projects
which cater to long-term needs of the country.

We remain optimistic about the prospects of a country
where youth constitutes more than 50% of total
population and where private consumption makes up
more than 70% of the gross output, indicating enough
room to expand investment and consumption.
Furthermore, our young and energetic team stands
poised to identify and capitalize on viable opportunities
which are a strategic fit to our long-term goals and
objectives.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
Pak Brunei completed 28 months of operations in
December 2009. Since commencement, the Company
has concentrated on institution building under the
active and strategic guidance of the Board of Directors,
strong leadership and a professional, savvy
management team. Sustainable revenue generation
remains the prime objective and experienced resources
provide technical and operational support to manage
the various risks emanating from each activity.

Clearly defined roles ensure effective management of
responsibilities in each of the critical areas of business.
Financial performance remains on track and the
Company is proud of having established a strong base
with all the necessary controls to maintain the
momentum built over the past two years. The objective
is to build an institution that can consistently surpass
quantitative as well as qualitative targets in the future.

ADVISORY AND STRATEGIC
INVESTMENTS
Advisory and Strategic Investment activities remain a
core focus area for the Company and the team has
been further strengthened to utilize a number of new
opportunities in the market. This area supports all other
businesses of the Company through an active pipeline
of transactions feeding Corporate Banking, Treasury
and Capital Markets portfolios. The Group’s forte is
Project and Structured Finance as well as M&A advisory
services. Besides creating attractive opportunities for
deploying funds, a regular flow of capital market
instruments has helped the Company play an active
role in reviving debt capital markets. Since inception,
the team has successfully arranged/advised on financing
of more than PKR 27 billion through TFCs, Equity
offerings, Sukuk and Commercial Paper transactions.
The objective is to offer one window facility for provision
of Financial Advisory Services, Arrangement/
participation in Debt/Equity Capital as well as post
closure support to each transaction.

Asset Management and Venture Capital through
specialized vehicles are part of the planned
activities for this year in this area. These vehicles will
use exciting opportunities available in the current
environment involving turnaround of distressed assets.

We expect these investments to result in significant
returns to the Company as well as meeting the
developmental role of the Company.

TREASURY AND FUND MANAGEMENT
Treasury Group has played a pivotal role in enhancing
Company’s financial performance and profile. This has
been possible through effective liquidity management
and prudent and timely decision making. Since
inception, Treasury Group has evolved into a
professionally competent and aggressive market player.

The strategy followed in the previous year of reducing
balance sheet footing and maintaining high liquidity
levels allowed us the room to exploit a number of
attractive investment opportunities in 2009. Starting
with an interest rate view based on thorough research,
and attuned to market sentiment, Treasury built a fixed
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income portfolio through TFCs, PIBs and Interest Rate
Swaps (IRS) to lock in high yields. Subsequent trading
of these positions generated high capital gains. Book
size was increased to PKR 12 billion during the year by
selective investment in blue chip fixed income
instruments and Interbank lines were further enhanced
to support our trading activity.

A distribution and marketing unit has been established
within Treasury to support market making and fund
mobilization activities.

CORPORATE BANKING
The Corporate Banking Group continued to develop a
high quality credit portfolio composed of bilateral as
well as syndicated funded and non-funded exposures.
Successfully emerging from the turbulent market
conditions of the previous year, fresh business
opportunities were identified and new resources were
inducted in the team to meet growing business
requirements. Diligent risk assessment ensured that
94% of the loan portfolio at the year end was rated A
or above.

While assets had been booked in 2007 and early 2008
in the cement, consumer durables, NBFC, and real
estate sectors, subsequent events led to weakening
fundamentals in these sectors. Successful efforts were
made in 2009 to reduce such exposures significantly.

The achievements included almost complete elimination
of NBFC exposures. Similarly exposure in cement sector
was also reduced. Simultaneously, more defensive
sectors were added to the portfolio and in the wake of
changing economic scenario, opportunities to tap into
blue chip companies at attractive yields were seized.
This resulted in significant sectoral diversification by
year end. Current pipeline of transactions include fresh
exposures in selected export oriented textile companies,
paper & board, pharmaceutical and food sectors which
will further diversify the portfolio and improve the
overall quality in 2010.

In line with the strategy to support project financing
and contribute to the development goals of the country,
significant progress was made on project finance
activity, both Greenfield as well as BMR. While numerous
transactions were pursued and evaluated for their
viability, exposures have so far been approved in Energy,
Engineering and Chemical sectors. In addition,
BMR transactions in value added Textile, Sugar
and Chemical sectors have also been processed. In
this direction, Participating Finance Institution (”PFI”)
status was obtained for financing export oriented
projects on subsidized rates under SBP’s LTFF Scheme.

CAPITAL MARKETS
Our technically skilled and experienced Capital Markets
team followed a disciplined approach in its trading and
investment activities during the year. While sentiment
played a big role in market performance, Pak Brunei
maintained its focus on fundamentally strong shares
based on thorough technical analysis. A measure of
performance is consistent and significant out
performance of the assigned portfolio relative
to benchmark index. Primary investment objective
remains preservation of capital and adequate risk
adjusted return.

The KSE-100 index during the year 2009 witnessed
recovery and consolidation. Overall, the index gained
60% or 3,521 points for the year. The strategy followed
in 2008 provided us with sufficient available investment
limit to re-enter the stock market at discounted prices.
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During this year, PBIC’s Capital Markets Group earned
a total return of 42% p.a. on its average investment
comfortably surpassing budgeted targets. In addition
to the advancements and improvements in investment
policies and procedures, the team also helped develop
Standard Operating Procedures for appraising
operational risk factors.

RISK MANAGEMENT
Risks continued to be managed and monitored
holistically. Credit risk, whether emanating from
loans/advances portfolio or investment in TFCs, is closely
tracked. For tradable bonds, a data base of available
instruments has been developed and limits are allocated
based on external as well as internal rating parameters
to facilitate investment. In the past 28 months, trading
volumes have been steadily rising as Treasury plays an
active role in market making for several TFC issues.
Internal ratings of TFCs take into account credit, market,
liquidity and settlement risk for each issue and are
independently monitored.

The focus in 2009 remained on strengthening the
Credit Risk Framework within the organization and
making necessary improvements as business activities
increased in scope and size. During the coming year
the main focus will be on development and
implementation of Operational Risk Framework within
the organization. The Middle Office function is currently
an integral part of RMU. In view of the increased volume
of activities this dedicated unit will also be further
strengthened.

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY
The Company promotes a technology savvy culture.
To a large extent, we are a paperless environment.
Employees are provided with the latest technology
infrastructure but not without stringent security
features. Pak Brunei hosted its Website in early
2008 to provide all necessary information about the
Company.

ENTITY RATING
During its rating review process in 2009, PACRA
maintained the long term rating of AA. The rating
agency was convinced that a strong management team
and sound infrastructure means that Pak Brunei is well
positioned to implement its business strategy and build
stable, diversified revenue streams.

CORPORATE AND FINANCIAL
REPORTING FRAMEWORK
The Directors declare that:

• The financial statements prepared by the management
of Pak Brunei Investment Company, present fairly its 
state of affairs, the results of its operations, cash flows
and statement of changes in equity

• Proper books of accounts of Pak Brunei have been 
maintained

• Appropriate accounting policies have been 
consistently applied in preparation of financial 
statements, and accounting estimates are based on
reasonable and prudent judgment

• International Financial Reporting Standards, as 
applicable in Pakistan, have been followed in 
preparation of financial statements and any departure
there from has been adequately disclosed

• The system of internal control is sound in design 
and has been effectively implemented and 
monitored. An audit committee, comprises of three
non-executive directors has been formed that meets
periodically

• There are no doubts at present about Pak Brunei’s 
ability to continue as a going concern

• There has been no material departure from the best
practices of Code of Corporate Governance

• Transactions undertaken with related parties during
the year have been properly disclosed in the financial
statements
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Financial Highlights PKR in million

Mark up Income 971

Dividend and Capital Gain 222

Fee Income  26

Gross Income 1,225
Profit before taxation 667

Profit after taxation 447

Total Assets 12,131

Net Assets 6,306

Earning per share (EPS) PKR 0.89

The recommendations for appropriation are as follows:

PKR in million

To Statutory Reserve 89
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• There are no statutory payments on account of taxes,
duties, levies, and charges which are outstanding 
as at December 31, 2009 except as disclosed in the
financial statements

The Board of Directors of the Company held three
meetings during the year ended December 31, 2009.
These were attended by the Directors as follows:

On the request of the Company, the State Bank of
Pakistan granted permission to hold a single Board
meeting to approve the financial statements for the
period ended June 30, 2009 and September 30, 2009.

CHANGE IN DIRECTORS
There has been no change in the Board of Directors of
the Company during the year ended December 31,
2009.
Investment of Provident fund as at December 31, 2009
according to its un-audited financial statements were
PKR 8.64 million (2008: PKR 1.78 million).

APPOINTMENT OF AUDITORS
The present Auditors, M/s. M. Yousuf Adil Saleem &
Co., Chartered Accountants (a member firm of Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu) retire and being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment.
The Board, on the proposal of the Audit Committee
recommends the appointment of M/s. M. Yousuf Adil
Saleem & Co., Chartered Accountants as Auditors for
the year 2010.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
The Board is grateful to its shareholders, the
Government of Pakistan and Brunei Investment Agency,
for their support to the institution. The Board also
commends the efforts of the team for its commitment
to the Company and its dedicated efforts in ensuring
a successful start of operations.
The Board takes this opportunity to express its gratitude
to the State Bank of Pakistan for their continued
guidance and support.

Ms. Ayesha Aziz, CFA
Managing Director
March 09, 2010
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We have reviewed the Statement of Compliance with the best practices contained in the Code of Corporate
Governance prepared by the Board of Directors of Pak Brunei Investment Company Limited (the Company) to
comply with Regulation G-1 of Prudential Regulations for Corporate/Commercial Banking issued by the State Bank
of Pakistan.

The responsibility for compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance is that of the Board of Directors of the
Company. Our responsibility is to review, to the extent where such compliances can be objectively verified,
whether the Statement of Compliance reflects the status of the Company’s compliance with the provisions of
the Code of Corporate Governance and report, if it does not. A review is limited primarily to inquiries of the
Company personnel and review of various documents prepared by the Company to comply with the Code.

As part of our audit of the financial statements we are required to obtain an understanding of the accounting
and internal control systems sufficient to plan the audit and develop an effective audit approach. We have not
carried out any special review of the internal control system to enable us to express an opinion as to whether
the Board’s statement on internal control covers all controls and the effectiveness of such controls.

Further, Sub - Regulation (XIII-a) of Listing Regulation No. 35 of The Karachi Stock Exchange (Guarantee) Limited
requires the Company to place before the Board of Directors for their consideration and approval of related party
transactions distinguishing between transactions carried out on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s
length transactions and transactions which are not executed at arm’s length price recording proper justification
for using such alternate pricing mechanism. Further, all such transactions are also required to be separately
placed before the audit committee. We are only required and have ensured compliance of requirement to the
extent of approval of related party transactions by the Board of Directors and placement of such transactions
before the audit committee. We have not carried out any procedures to determine whether the related party
transactions were undertaken at arm’s length price or not.

Based on our review, except for the matters described in preceding paragraph, nothing has come to our attention,
which causes us to believe that the Statement of Compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance does not
appropriately reflect the Company’s compliance, in all material respects, with the best practices contained in the
Code of Corporate Governance, as applicable to the Company for the year ended December 31, 2009.

M. Yousuf Adil Saleem & Company

Chartered Accountants

Karachi

Date: March 09, 2010

REVIEW REPORT TO THE MEMBERS ON STATEMENT OF
COMPLIANCE WITH BEST PRACTICES OF CODE OF
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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This Statement is being presented to comply with the Code of Corporate Governance framed by the Securities
and Exchange Commission of Pakistan, which was made applicable to the Company through regulation G-1 of
the Prudential Regulations for Corporate/Commercial Banking issued by the State of Pakistan.

The Company has applied the principles contained in the Code in the following manner:

1. The Board of Directors of the Company is appointed by the Government of Islamic Republic of Pakistan (GoP),
represented by Ministry of Finance, and the Brunei Investment Agency (BIA). Under Joint Venture Agreement
dated March 17, 2006, the GoP and the BIA both will appoint two directors on their behalf. At present three
directors are non-executive directors and one director is executive director.

2. The Directors have confirmed that none of them is serving as a director in more than ten listed companies,
including this Company.

3. The resident directors of the Company have confirmed that they are registered as tax payers and none of
 them has defaulted in payment of any loan to a banking company, a DFI or an NBFI or being a member of
a stock exchange, has been declared as a defaulter by that stock exchange.

4. No casual vacancy occurred on the Board during the year ended December 31, 2009.

5. The Company has prepared a 'Statement of Ethics and Business Practices' which is signed by all the directors
and employees of the Company.

6. The Company has developed a vision/mission statement, overall corporate strategy and significant policies.
A complete record of particulars of significant policies along with the dates on which they were approved 
or amended has been maintained.

7. All the powers of the Board of Directors have been duly exercised and decisions on material transactions, 
including appointment and determination of remuneration and terms and conditions of employment of the
CEO have been taken by the Board.

8. The meetings of the Board were presided over by the Chairman. The Board met 3 times during the year. On
the request of the Company, the SBP vide letter no. BPRD (CGD)/682-23/2009-5967 dated September 09, 
2009 granted approval to hold a single Board meeting to approve financial statements for the period ended
June 30, 2009 and September 30, 2009. Written notices of the Board meetings, along with agenda and 
working papers, were circulated at least seven days before the meetings. The minutes of the meetings were
appropriately recorded and circulated.

9. The Directors are conversant with the relevant laws applicable to the Company, its policies and procedures
and provisions of memorandum and articles of association and are aware of their duties and responsibilities.
The Directors have also discussed the corporate governance requirements of the DFIs as required by the 

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH
THE CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009
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State Bank of Pakistan Prudential Regulations during the year. The Directors also attended an orientation 
course during the year.

10. The Board has approved the appointment of CFO, Company Secretary and Head of Internal Audit and as 
authorized by the Board their remuneration and terms and conditions of employment were determined by
the CEO.

11. The Directors' Report for the period has been prepared in compliance with the requirements of the Code and
fully describes the salient matters required to be disclosed.

12. The Company’s financial statements were duly endorsed by CEO and CFO before approval by the Board.

13. The Directors, CEO and Executives do not hold any interest in the shares of the Company.

14. The Company has complied with all other corporate and financial reporting requirements of the Code.

15. The internal audit function has been effective during the year. Internal audit report is accessible to the Audit
Committee and important points arising out of internal audit were reviewed by the Audit Committee and 
important points requiring the Board’s attention are brought into their notice.

16. The Board has formed an audit committee consisting of three non-executive directors, including the Chairman.

17. The meetings of the audit committee were held 3 times during the year ended December 31, 2009 prior to 
approval of interim and final results of the Company as required by the Code. As mentioned in point 8, the
terms of reference of the audit committee have been formed and advised to the audit committee for compliance.

18. The Statutory Auditors of the Company have confirmed that they have been given a satisfactory rating
 under the quality control review program of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan, that they 
or any of the partners of the firm, their spouses and minor children do not hold shares of the company and
that the firm and all its partners are in compliance with International Federation of Accountants (IFAC) 
guidelines on code of ethics as adopted by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan.

19. The statutory auditors or the persons associated with them have not been appointed to provide the services
except in accordance with the listing regulations and the auditors have confirmed that they have observed
IFAC guidelines in this regard.

20.We confirm that all other material principles contained in the Code have been complied with.

21. All related party transactions have been reviewed and approved by the Board and are carried out as per
agreed terms.

Ms. Ayesha Aziz, CFA
Managing Director
March 09, 2010

Dr. Hj Mohammed Amin
Liew bin Abdullah, CFA
Chairman
March 09, 2010
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We have audited the annexed balance sheet of Pak Brunei Investment Company Limited (the Company) as at
December 31, 2009 and the related profit and loss account, statement of comprehensive income, cash flow
statement and statement of changes in equity together with the notes forming part thereof (herein-after referred
to as the ‘financial statements’) for the year then ended and we state that we have obtained all the information
and explanations which, to the best of our knowledge and belief, were necessary for the purposes of our audit.

It is the responsibility of the Company's management to establish and maintain a system of internal control, and
prepare and present the financial statements in conformity with the approved accounting standards and the
requirements of the Companies Ordinance, 1984. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the auditing standards as applicable in Pakistan. These standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the above said
statements are free of any material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the above said statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting policies and significant estimates made by management, as well as, evaluating the overall presentation
of the above said statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion and, after
due verification, we report that:

a. in our opinion, proper books of account have been kept by the Company as required by the 
Companies Ordinance, 1984;

b. in our opinion:

i. the balance sheet and profit and loss account together with the notes thereon have been drawn up 
in conformity with the Companies Ordinance, 1984, and are in agreement with the books of account 
and are further in accordance with accounting policies consistently applied except for the change 
mentioned in note 4.1 with which we concur;

ii. the expenditure incurred during the year was for the purpose of the Company's business; and

iii. the business conducted, investments made and the expenditure incurred during the year were in 
accordance with the objects of the Company.

c. in our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the balance
sheet, profit and loss account, statement of comprehensive income, cash flow statement and statement
of changes in equity together with the notes forming part thereof conform with approved accounting 
standards as applicable in Pakistan and give the information required by the Companies Ordinance, 1984,
in the manner so required and give a true and fair view of the state of the Company's affairs as at December
31, 2009 and of the profit, comprehensive income its cash flows and changes in equity for the year then 
ended; and

d. in our opinion, no zakat was deductible at source under the Zakat and Ushr Ordinance, 1980.

Chartered Accountants

Engagement Partner:
Syed Asad Ali Shah

Karachi
March 09, 2010

AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE MEMBERS



December 31, December 31,
2009 2008

Note                                Rupees in '000 

ASSETS

Cash and balances with treasury banks 5  23,869  4,267
Balances with other banks 6  191,915  14,870
Lendings to financial institutions 7  1,507,910  1,519,299
Investments - net 8  8,415,996  2,687,585
Advances - net 9  1,732,493  1,062,744
Operating fixed assets 10  37,614  44,334
Deferred tax assets - net  -    27,236
Other assets 12  221,182  168,558

 12,130,979  5,528,893

LIABILITIES

Bills payable  -    -
Borrowings 13  5,296,808  186,154
Deposits and other accounts 14  395,000  -
Sub-ordinated loans  -    -
Liabilities against assets subject to finance lease 15  16,273  20,710
Deferred tax liabilities - net 11  2,343  -
Other liabilities 16  114,576  40,869

 5,825,000  247,733
NET ASSETS  6,305,979  5,281,160

REPRESENTED BY

Share capital 17  5,000,000  5,000,000
Reserves  162,093  72,602
Unappropriated profit  648,369  290,407

 5,810,462  5,363,009
Deficit on revaluation of assets - net of tax 18  (4,483)  (81,849)
Advance against equity  500,000 - 

 6,305,979  5,281,160

CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS 19

The annexed notes 1 to 41 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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BALANCE SHEET
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2009

Ayesha Aziz Junaidi bin Haji Masri Sumaira K. Aslam Hj Mohd. Amin Liew bin Abdullah
Chief Executive     Director                       Director                Chairman
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December 31, December 31,
2009 2008

Note                              Rupees in ‘000 

Mark-up / Return / Interest earned 21  971,221  672,254
Mark-up / Return / Interest expensed 22  207,450  131,801

Net Mark-up / Interest Income  763,771  540,453
Provision against non-performing loans and advances 9.4  25,131  -
Provision for diminution in the value of investments 8.3  167,787  108,921
Bad debts written off directly  -  -

192,918  108,921
Net Mark-up / Interest Income after provisions 570,853  431,532

NON MARK-UP / INTEREST INCOME

Fee, commission and brokerage income  26,335  41,182
Dividend income 16,080  7,012
Income from dealing in foreign currencies  -  -
Gain on sale of securities - net 23  206,158  37,145
Unrealized gain on revaluation of investments
classified as held-for-trading 8.5  898  -
Other income 24  4,593  269

Total non-markup / interest Income  254,064  85,608
 824,917  517,140

NON MARK-UP / INTEREST EXPENSES

Administrative expenses 25  132,343  118,675
Other provisions / reversals 12.2  25,000  25,000
Other charges 26  400  -

Total non-markup / interest expenses 157,743  143,675
 667,174  373,465

Extra ordinary / unusual items  -  -

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION  667,174  373,465

Taxation – Current  212,236  170,972
                - Prior years  (16,718)  2,921
                - Deferred  24,203  (22,694)

27  219,721  151,199

PROFIT AFTER TAXATION  447,453  222,266

Unappropriated profit brought forward  290,407  112,594
Profit available for appropriation  737,860  334,860

            ....................Rupees....................

Basic earnings per share 28  0.89  0.52

Diluted earnings per share 29  0.89  0.52

The annexed notes 1 to 41 form an integral part of these financial statements.

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009

Ayesha Aziz Junaidi bin Haji Masri Sumaira K. Aslam Hj Mohd. Amin Liew bin Abdullah
Chief Executive     Director                       Director                Chairman
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009

 December 31, December 31,
2009 2008

                     Rupees in ‘000

Profit after taxation for the period 447,453  222,266

Other comprehensive income  - -

Total comprehensive income for the year  447,453  222,266

The annexed notes 1 to 41 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Ayesha Aziz Junaidi bin Haji Masri Sumaira K. Aslam Hj Mohd. Amin Liew bin Abdullah
Chief Executive     Director                       Director                Chairman
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 December 31,  December 31,
 2009 2008

Note                                  Rupees in ‘000 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before taxation  667,174  373,465
Less: Dividend income  16,080  7,012

651,094  366,453

Adjustments for non-cash charges
Depreciation 10.2  10,164  7,251
Amortization 10.3  2,166  1,197
Provision against non-performing advances  25,131  -
Provision for diminution in value of investments 8.3  167,787  108,921
Other provisions / reversals 12.2  25,000  25,000
Gain on sale of property and equipment 24  (268)  (89)
Unrealized gain on revaluation of investments classified
   as held-for-trading 8.5  (898)  -
Unrealized gain on interest rate swap contracts 24  (4,318)  -
Finance charges on leased assets 25  2,303  2,455

227,067  144,735
878,161  511,188

(Increase) / decrease in operating assets
Lendings to financial institutions  11,389  (55,000)
Held-for-trading securities  (15,671)  99,315
Advances  (694,880)  (808,300)
Others assets  (73,306)  187,767

(772,468)  (576,218)
(Decrease) / increase in operating liabilities
Borrowings  5,110,654  (963,846)
Deposits and other accounts  395,000  -
Other liabilities (excluding current taxation) 55,390  (15,423)

5,561,044  (979,269)
5,666,737  (1,044,299)

Financial charges paid  (2,450)  (2,154)
Income tax paid  (177,055)  (172,406)
Net cash from / (used in) operating activities  5,487,232  (1,218,859)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Net investment in available-for-sale securities  (5,796,886)  (1,022,815)
Dividend income received  16,080  7,012
Investment in operating fixed assets  (7,018)  (21,310)
Sale proceeds from disposal of property and equipment  1,676  11,507
Net cash used in investing activities  (5,786,148)  (1,025,606)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Payments of lease obligations  (4,437)  (4,119)
Advance received against issue of share capital  500,000  -
Issue of share capital  -  2,000,000
Net cash (used in) / from financing activities  495,563  1,995,881

Increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  196,647 (248,584)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year / period  19,137  267,721

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 30  215,784  19,137

The annexed notes 1 to 41 form an integral part of these financial statements.

CASH FLOW STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009

Ayesha Aziz Junaidi bin Haji Masri Sumaira K. Aslam Hj Mohd. Amin Liew bin Abdullah
Chief Executive     Director                       Director                Chairman
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009

Ayesha Aziz Junaidi bin Haji Masri Sumaira K. Aslam Hj Mohd. Amin Liew bin Abdullah
Chief Executive     Director                       Director                Chairman

 Share capital Statutory Unappropriated Total
reserve profit

                                                                          ............................................Rupees in ‘000 ................................

Balance as at January 1, 2008  3,000,000  28,149  112,594  3,140,743

   Total comprehensive income for 
the year ended December 31, 2008  -    -    222,266  222,266

Transfer to statutory reserve  -    44,453  (44,453)  -

Issue of share capital 2,000,000  -    -    2,000,000

Balance as at December 31, 2008  5,000,000  72,602  290,407  5,363,009

Total comprehensive income for 
the year ended December 31, 2009  -    -    447,453  447,453

Transfer to statutory reserve  -    89,491  (89,491)  -

Balance as at December 31, 2009  5,000,000  162,093  648,369  5,810,462

The annexed notes 1 to 41 form an integral part of these financial statements.



44

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009

1. STATUS AND NATURE OF BUSINESS

Pak Brunei Investment Company Limited (the Company) is incorporated as an un-listed public limited company
under the Companies Ordinance, 1984. The State Bank of Pakistan (the SBP) granted the approval for 
commencement of business with effect from August 20, 2007. The Company is a joint venture between the
Government of Pakistan and the Brunei Investment Agency. The Company's objective interalia includes making
investments in the industrial and agro based industrial fields in Pakistan on commercial basis through carrying
out of industrial and agro based industrial projects and making of their products in Pakistan and abroad and
to undertake other feasible business and to establish and acquire companies to conduct various businesses.
The registered office of the Company is situated at Khadija Towers, Plot No. 11/5, Block No. 2, Scheme No.5,
Clifton, Karachi, Pakistan.

2. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the approved accounting standards as 
applicable in Pakistan. Approved accounting standards comprise of such International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) as are notified under the 
Companies Ordinance, 1984, the requirements of the Companies Ordinance, 1984, the Banking Companies
Ordinance, 1962 or directives issued by the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (the SECP) and
the SBP. Wherever the requirements of the Companies Ordinance, 1984, the Banking Companies Ordinance,
1962 or directives issued by the SECP and the SBP differ with the requirements of IFRS, the requirements 
of the Companies Ordinance, 1984, the Banking Companies Ordinance, 1962 or the requirements of the 
said directives shall prevail.

The SECP has approved the adoption of International Accounting Standard 39, "Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement" and International Accounting Standard 40, "Investment Property". The 
requirements of these standards have not been taken into account for the purpose of these financial 
statements as the implementation of the said standards has been deferred by SBP, vide BSD circular letter 
number 11, dated September 11, 2002, for Non Banking Financial Institutions in Pakistan till further 
instructions. However, investments have been classified and valued in accordance with the requirements of
various circulars issued by SBP. Further, the Company has not adopted requirements of IFRS - 7 "Financial 
Instruments: Disclosures" as the same has not been made applicable for banks and NBFCs. Therefore, it is 
also not applicable on to the Company as it follows the same format of reporting as made applicable on 
banks by the SBP.

3. BASIS OF MEASUREMENT

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except that certain 
investments have been stated at revalued amounts in accordance with the directives of the SBP.

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

4.1 Change in accounting policy

4.1.1 Presentation of Financial Statements
Starting January 01, 2009, the Company has changed its accounting policy in respect of 'Presentation of 
financial statements'.

IAS 1 (Revised) ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2009) – The revised standard prohibits the presentation of items of income and expenses (that
is, ‘non-owner changes in equity’) in the statement of changes in equity, requiring ‘non-owner changes in 
equity’ to be presented separately from owner changes in equity in a statement of comprehensive income.
Further, under revised standard, an entity may present the components of profit or loss either as part of a
single statement of comprehensive income or in a separate income statement. The Company has opted to
present the components of profit or loss in a separate statement while a statement of comprehensive income
is presented separately as permitted under revised IAS 1.  

Comparative information has been re-presented so that it is also in conformity with the revised standard. 
Since the change in accounting policy only impacts presentation aspects, there is no impact on earnings per share.
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4.2 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and balances with treasury banks and balances with other banks 
in current and deposit accounts.

4.3 Revenue recognition

Mark-up / return / interest earned on advances and investments are recognised on time proportion basis 
taking into account effective yield on the instrument except in case of advances and investments classified
under the Prudential Regulations on which mark-up / return / interest is recognized on receipt basis.

Dividend income is recognized when the Company's right to receive income is established.

Fee, commission and brokerage income and remuneration for trustee and advisory services are recognized
at the time of performance of services.

Premium or discount on debt securities classified as "available-for-sale" and "held-to-maturity" securities is 
amortised using the effective interest method and taken to interest income.

4.4 Advances

Advances are stated net of specific and general provisions. Specific provisions are made in accordance with
the requirements of Prudential Regulations issued by SBP and charged to the profit and loss account. These
regulations prescribe an age based criteria (as supplemented by subjective evaluation of advances) for 
classification of non-performing loans and advances and computing provision / allowance thereagainst. 
Advances are written off where there are no realistic prospects of recovery.

Leases, where the Company transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of
an asset to the lessee are classified as finance leases. A receivable is recognized at an amount equal to the
present value of the minimum lease payments, including guaranteed residual value, if any. Finance lease 
receivables are included in advances to the customers.

4.5 Investments

Investments other than those categorised as held-for-trading are initially recognised at fair value which 
includes transaction costs associated with the acquisition of investments. Investments classified as held-for-
trading are initially recognised at fair value, and transaction costs are expensed in the profit and loss account.
The Company has classified its investment portfolio into ‘held-for-trading’, ‘held-to-maturity’ and ‘available-
for-sale’ portfolios as follows:

Held-for-trading

These are investments, which are either acquired for generating a profit from short-term fluctuations in 
market prices, interest rate movements, dealer's margin or are securities included in a portfolio in which a
pattern of short-term profit taking exists and are to be sold within 90 days of acquisition. These are carried
at market value, with the related surplus / (deficit) being taken to profit and loss account. 

Held-to-maturity
These are securities with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity in respect of which the Company
has the positive intent and ability to hold till maturity. These are carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method.

Available-for-sale

These are investments that do not fall under the “held-for-trading” or “held-to-maturity” categories. These 
are carried at market value with the surplus / (deficit) taken to ‘surplus / (deficit) on revaluation of assets’ 
account below equity. Provision in respect of unquoted shares is calculated with reference to break-up value.
Provision for unquoted debt securities is calculated with reference to the time-based criteria as per the SBP's
Prudential Regulations.

On derecognition or impairment in quoted available-for-sale investments, the cumulative gain or loss previously
reported as “surplus / (deficit) on revaluation of assets” below equity is included in the profit and loss account
for the period. 
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Held-for-trading and quoted available-for-sale securities are marked to market with reference to ready quotes
on Reuters page (PKRV) or the Stock Exchanges.

Premium or discount on debt securities classified as available-for-sale and held-to-maturity securities is 
amortised using the effective interest rate method and taken to interest income.

Gains and losses on derecognition of investments are included in the profit and loss account in the year in
which they arise. 

The carrying values of investments are reviewed for impairment at each balance sheet date. Where any such
indications exist that the carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable amounts, provision for impairment
is made through the profit and loss account.

4.6 Repurchase and resale agreements

Securities sold with a simultaneous commitment to repurchase at a specified future date (repos) continue
to be recognised in the balance sheet and are measured in accordance with accounting policies for investment
securities. The counterparty liability for amounts received under these agreements is included in borrowings.
The difference between sale and repurchase price is treated as mark-up / return / interest expense and accrued
over the life of the repo agreement using effective interest rate method. 

Securities purchased with a corresponding commitment to resell at a specified future date (reverse repos) 
are not recognised in the balance sheet, as the Company does not obtain control over the securities. Amounts
paid under these agreements are included in lendings to financial institutions. The difference between 
purchase and resale price is treated as mark-up / return / interest income and accrued over the life of the 
reverse repo agreement using effective interest rate method.

4.7 Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value on the date at which the derivative 
contract is entered into and are subsequently re-measured at fair value using appropriate valuation techniques.
All derivative financial instruments are carried as assets when fair value is positive and liabilities when fair
value is negative. Any change in the fair value of derivative instruments is taken to the profit and loss account.

4.8 Trade date accounting

All regular way purchases / sales of investment are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date, the Company
commits to purchase / sell the investments. Regular way purchases or sales of investment require delivery
of securities within two working days after the transaction date as required by stock exchange regulations.

4.9 Financial instruments

All the financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised at the time when the Company becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Any gain or loss on derecognition of the financial 
assets and financial liabilities is taken to income currently.

4.10 Taxation

Current

The charge for current taxation is based on taxable income at the current rates of taxation after taking into
account the tax credits and tax rebates available, if any. The charge for current tax also includes adjustments
whenever considered necessary relating to prior year, arising from assessments framed during the year.
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Deferred

Deferred income tax is provided, using the balance sheet liability method, on all temporary differences at 
the balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused
tax assets and any unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available 
against which the deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax assets and unused tax 
losses can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the 
period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax relating to gain / loss recognized in surplus / deficit on revaluation of assets is charged / credited
to such account.

4.11 Operating fixed assets

Property and equipment

Owned

Operating fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any. 
Depreciation is charged to the profit and loss account using the straight line method at the rates stated in
note 10.2. Depreciation is charged from the date when the asset is available for use and no depreciation is
charged from the date when the assets are disposed off.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the asset will flow to the Company
and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognized.
All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the profit and loss account during the financial period in
which they are incurred.

Residual values and useful lives are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted if the impact on 
depreciation is considered significant.

Gain / loss on sale or deletion of fixed assets is recognised in the profit and loss account.

Leased

Assets held under finance lease are accounted for by recording the assets and the related liability. These are
recorded at lower of fair value and the present value of minimum lease payments at the inception of lease
and are subsequently stated net of accumulated depreciation.

Financial charges are allocated over the period of lease term so as to provide a constant periodic rate of 
financial charge on the outstanding finance lease liability. 

Depreciation is charged on leased assets on a basis similar to that of owned assets.

Intangibles

Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses, if any. Intangible
assets are amortised using the straight line method at the rate stated in note 10.3.

Amortisation on addition and deletion of intangible assets during the year is charged in proportion to the 
period of use.
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Capital work-in-progress

Capital work-in-progress is stated at cost. These are transferred to specific assets as and when assets are 
available for use.

Impairment

The carrying values of fixed assets are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying values may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists and where the carrying
values exceed the estimated recoverable amounts, fixed assets are written down to their recoverable amounts.

The resulting impairment loss is taken to profit and loss account except for impairment loss on revalued 
assets which is adjusted against the related revaluation surplus to the extent that the impairment loss does
not exceed the surplus on revaluation of assets. Where impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised recoverable amount but limited to the extent of the amount
which would have been determined had there been no impairment. Reversal of impairment loss is recognized
as income.

4.12 Provisions

Provision is made when the Company has legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is 
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of 
amount can be made. Charge to profit and loss account is stated net of expected recoveries. 

4.13 Offsetting
Financial assets and financial liabilities are only set off and the net amount is reported in the financial 
statements when there is a legally enforceable right to set off and the Company intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realize the assets and to settle the liabilities simultaneously.

4.14 Staff retirement benefit

4.14.1 Defined contribution plan

Staff provident fund

The Company operates a provident fund scheme for its employees. Equal monthly contributions are made,
both by the Company and the employees to the fund at the rate of 8.33% of basic salary.

4.15 Foreign currencies translation

Foreign currency transactions are converted into Rupees applying the exchange rate at the date of the 
respective transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated into Rupees at the
rates of exchange prevailing at the balance sheet date. Exchange gains and losses are included in income.

The Company's financial statements are presented in Pak Rupees (Rs.) which is the Company's functional 
and presentation currency.

4.16 Dividend distribution

Dividend is recognized as a liability in the period in which it is approved.

4.17 Distributions of bonus shares and other appropriations to reserves

The Company recognizes all appropriations, other than statutory appropriations, to reserves including those
in respect of bonus shares, in the period in which such appropriations are approved.

4.18 Earnings per share

4.19 Segment reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Company that is engaged either in providing product or 
services (business segment) or in providing products or services within a particular economic environment
(geographical segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of other segments.
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4.19.1 Business segments

Corporate finance

Corporate finance includes services provided in connection with mergers and acquisitions, underwriting, 
privatization, securitization, research, debts (government, high yield), equity, syndication, IPO and secondary
private placements.

Trading and sales

It includes fixed income, equity, foreign exchanges, commodities, credit, funding, own position securities,
lending and repos, brokerage debt and prime brokerage.

Commercial banking

Commercial banking includes project finance, real estate, export finance, trade finance, factoring, leasing,
lending, guarantees, bill of exchange and deposits.

4.19.2 Geographical segments

The Company operates in Pakistan only.

4.20 Accounting estimates and judgments

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with the approved accounting standards requires the
use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires the management to exercise its judgment in the
process of applying the Company's accounting policies. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated
and are based on historical experience, including expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. The areas where various assumptions and estimates are significant to
the Company's financial statements or where judgment was exercised in application of accounting policies
are as follows:

4.20.1 Classification of investments

i In classifying investments as 'held-for-trading', the Company has determined securities which are acquired
with an intention to trade by taking advantage of short term market / interest rate movements and are
to be sold within 90 days.

ii In classifying investments as 'held-to-maturity', the Company follows the guidance provided in the SBP 
circulars on classifying non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed 
maturity. In making this judgment, the Company evaluates its intention and ability to hold such investment
till maturity.

iii The investments which are not classified as 'held-for-trading' or 'held-to-maturity' are classified as 'available-
for-sale'.

4.20.2 Provision against non-performing loans and advances

The Company reviews its loan portfolio to assess amount of non-performing loans and advances and provision
required thereagainst. While assessing this requirement various factors including the delinquency in the 
account, financial position of the borrower and requirements of prudential regulations are considered.

4.20.3 Impairment of available-for-sale equity investments

The Company determines that available-for-sale equity investments are impaired when there has been a 
significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below its cost. The determination of what is "significant 
or prolonged" requires judgment. In making this judgment, the Company evaluates among other factors, 
the normal volatility in share price. In addition, impairment may be appropriate when there is evidence of
deterioration in the financial health of the investee, industry and sector performance, changes in technology,
and operational and financing cash flows.

4.21 Standards, interpretations and amendments to published approved accounting standards that are not
yet effective

The following standards, amendments and interpretations of approved accounting standards will be effective
for accounting periods beginning on or after January 01, 2010:



50

- Revised IFRS 3 - Business Combinations (applicable for annual periods beginning on or after July 01, 
2009) broadens among other things the definition of business resulting in more acquisitions being treated
as business combinations, contingent consideration to be measured at fair value, transaction costs other
than share and debt issue costs to be expensed, any pre-existing interest in an acquiree to be measured
at fair value, with the related gain or loss recognized in profit or loss and any non-controlling (minority)
interest to be measured at either fair value, or at its proportionate interest in the identifiable assets and
liabilities of an acquiree, on a transaction-by-transaction basis. The application of the standard is not 
likely to have an effect on the Company's financial statements.

- Amended IAS 27 - Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (effective for annual periods beginning
on or after July 01, 2009) requires accounting for changes in ownership interest by the group in a 
subsidiary, while maintaining control, to be recognized as an equity transaction. When the group loses
control of subsidiary, any interest retained in the former subsidiary will be measured at fair value with
the gain or loss recognized in the profit or loss. The application of the standard is not likely to have an
effect on the Company's financial statements.

- IFRIC 15 - Agreement for the Construction of Real Estate (effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after October 01, 2009) clarifies the recognition of revenue by real estate developers for sale of units, 
such as apartments or houses, 'off-plan', that is, before construction is complete. The amendment is not
relevant to the Company’s operations.

- IFRIC 17 - Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners (effective for annual periods beginning on or after
July 01, 2009) states that when a Company distributes non-cash assets to its shareholders as dividend,
the liability for the dividend is measured at fair value. If there are subsequent changes in the fair value
before the liability is discharged, this is recognized in equity. When the non-cash asset is distributed, the
difference between the carrying amount and fair value is recognized in the income statement. As the 
Company does not distribute non-cash assets to its shareholders, this interpretation has no impact on 
the Company’s financial statements.

The International Accounting Standards Board made certain amendments to existing standards as part
of its Second annual improvements project. The effective dates for these amendments vary by standard
and most will be applicable to the Company’s 2010 financial statements. These amendments are unlikely
to have an impact on the Company’s financial statements.

- Amendment to IFRS 2 - Share-based Payment – Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment Transactions 
(effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 01, 2010). Currently effective IFRSs require
attribution of group share-based payment transactions only if they are equity-settled. The amendments
resolve diversity in practice regarding attribution of cash-settled share-based payment transactions and
require an entity receiving goods or services in either an equity-settled or a cash-settled payment transaction
to account for the transaction in its separate or individual financial statements.

- Amendment to IAS 32 - Financial Instruments: Presentation – Classification of Rights Issues (effective for
annual periods beginning on or after February 01, 2010). The IASB amended IAS 32 to allow rights, 
options or warrants to acquire a fixed number of the entity’s own equity instruments for a fixed amount
of any currency to be classified as equity instruments provided the entity offers the rights, options or 
warrants pro rata to all of its existing owners of the same class of its own non-derivative equity instruments.

- IFRIC 19 - Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments (effective for annual periods beginning
on or after July 01, 2010). This interpretation provides guidance on the accounting for debt for equity
swaps. This interpretation has no impact on the Company’s financial statements.

- IAS 24 - Related Party Disclosures (revised 2009) – effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 01, 2011. The revision amends the definition of a related party and modifies certain related 
party disclosure requirements for government-related entities. The amendment would result in certain
changes in disclosures.

- Amendments to IFRIC 14 IAS 19 - The Limit on a Defined Benefit Assets, Minimum Funding Requirements
and their Interaction (effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 01, 2011). These 
amendments remove unintended consequences arising from the treatment of prepayments where there



December 31, December 31,
2009 2008

Note                           Rupees in '000

5. CASH AND BALANCES WITH TREASURY BANKS

With State Bank of Pakistan in
  Local currency current account 5.1  23,595 4,090

With National Bank of Pakistan in
  Local currency current account 274  177

23,869 4,267

5.1 This includes the minimum cash reserve required to be maintained with the SBP in accordance with the 
requirement of BSD Circular No. 04 dated May 22, 2004.

6. BALANCES WITH OTHER BANKS

In Pakistan
  On current account - -
  On deposit accounts 6.1 and 6.2  191,915  14,870

191,915 14,870

6.1 These carry mark-up at rates ranging from 5% to 10.96% per annum (2008: 5% to 12.5% per annum).

6.2 This includes balance of Rs. 6,608 held with related party.

7. LENDINGS TO FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

Placement 7.2 -  100,000
Certificate of Investments (COIs) / Term deposit receipts (TDRs) 7.3  1,507,910  1,344,299
Certificate of Musharika 7.4  -  75,000

7.1  1,507,910  1,519,299
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is a minimum funding requirement. These amendments result in prepayments of contributions in certain
circumstances being recognized as an asset rather than as an expense. This amendment is not likely to
have any impact on Company’s financial statements.

 - Amendments to IFRS 5 - Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations – (effective for
annual periods beginning on or after July 01, 2009). The amendments specify that if an entity is committed
to a plan to sell a subsidiary, then it would classify all of that subsidiary’s assets and liabilities as held 
for sale when the held for sale criteria in IFRS 5 are met. This applies regardless of the entity retaining
an interest (other than control) in the subsidiary; and disclosures for discontinued operations are required
by the parent when a subsidiary meets the definition of a discontinued operation. This amendment is 
not likely to have any impact on Company’s financial statements.
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December 31, December 31,
2009 2008

Note          Rupees in '000

7.1 PARTICULARS OF LENDING
In local currency 1,507,910 1,519,299
In foreign currencies - -

1,507,910 1,519,299

7.2 The profit rate on placement is NIL (2008: 18% per annum). Placement is
due for maturity within NIL (2008: 1 week).

7.3 The profit rate on these COIs and TDRs ranges from 12.80% to 16.10% per annum (2008: 10.13% to 19%). 
All COIs and TDRs are due for maturity within 2 to 3 years (2008: 3 to 4 years) and 1 month to 6 
months (2008: 1 month to 6 months) respectively.

7.4 The profit rate on certificate of musharika is NIL (2008: 11.11%). This will mature within NIL (2008: 2 months).

8. INVESTMENTS - net

Note        December 31,2009                                December 31,2008

Held by the  Given as Total Held by the Given as Total
Company collateral Company collateral

                                                               ............................................Rupees in '000.........................................

8.1 INVESTMENT BY TYPES:
Held-for-trading securities

Ordinary shares of listed
   companies 8.7.2 15,671  -  15,671  - - -

Available-for-sale securities 8.4

Market Treasury Bills 8.6  195,356  3,918,484  4,113,840 196,974 247,196 444,170

Ordinary shares of listed
   companies 8.7.1  580,428 - 580,428 281,591 - 281,591
Pakistan Investment Bonds 8.6 95,008 -  95,008 46,696 -  46,696
   Term Finance Certificates
   and Sukuks 8.9  3,835,960  - 3,835,960 2,083,263 - 2,083,263
Units of mutual funds 8.8 28,840 - 28,840 28,840 - 28,840

4,735,592 3,918,484 8,654,076 2,637,364 247,196  2,884,560
Investments at cost  4,751,263 3,918,484 8,669,747  2,637,364 247,196 2,884,560

Less: Provision for diminution in
   value of Investments 8.3 (249,338) -  (249,338) (108,921) - (108,921)
Investments (net of provisions) 4,501,925 3,918,484 8,420,409 2,528,443 247,196 2,775,639

Surplus on revaluation of
   held-for-trading securities 8.5 898 - 898 - - -

Deficit on revaluation of
    available-for-sale securities - net 18.1 (24,833) 19,522 (5,311) (88,054) - (88,054)

Total investments at market value 4,477,990 3,938,006 8,415,996 2,440,389 247,196 2,687,585



December 31, December 31,
2009 2008

Note                               Rupees in '000 

8.2 INVESTMENT BY SEGMENTS:

Federal Government Securities:
Market Treasury Bills 8.6 4,113,840 444,170
Pakistan Investment Bonds 8.6  95,008 46,696

Fully Paid up Ordinary Shares:
Listed Companies 8.7.1 and 8.7.2 596,099 281,591
Term Finance Certificates and Sukuks:

Listed 8.9 1,520,378 571,886
Unlisted 8.9 2,315,582 1,511,377

Units of mutual funds 8.8 28,840 28,840

Total investments at cost 8,669,747 2,884,560

Less: Provision for diminution in value of investments 8.3 (249,338) (108,921)

Investments (net of provisions) 8,420,409 2,775,639

Surplus on revaluation of Held-for-trading securities 8.5  898  -
Deficit on revaluation of Available-for-sale securities 18.1 (5,311) (88,054)

Total investments at market value 8,415,996 2,687,585

8.3 Particulars of Provision
Opening balance 108,921 -
Charge for the year 167,787 108,921
Reversals (27,370) -

140,417 108,921
Closing Balance 8.3.1 249,338 108,921

8.3.1 Particulars of Provision in respect of Type and Segment

Available-for-sale securities
Ordinary shares of listed companies 138,190  67,845
Units of mutual funds 3,576 3,576
Term Finance Certificates and Sukuks 107,572 37,500

249,338 108,921

8.3.2 Provision for diminution (impairment loss) in value of available-for-sale listed equity shares and
mutual fund units

Due to unprecedented decline in equity security prices and prevalent financial crisis in previous year, the SBP
vide its BSD Circular No. 4 dated February 13, 2009 had allowed that the impairment loss, if any, recognized
as on December 31, 2008 due to valuation of listed equity investments held as ‘available-for-sale’ to quoted 
market prices, may be shown under the equity and to be transferred to profit and loss account on quarterly 
basis during the financial year 2009.

In light of the above circular, the impairment loss on equity securities classified as available-for-sale aggregating
to Rs. 71.421 million as on December 31, 2008 had not been recognized as impairment in the profit and 
loss account for that year in accordance with the option provided by SBP through the aforementioned circular.
Had that loss been recognized as impairment in the profit and loss account, the unappropriated profit would
have been reduced by the said amount and earnings per share would have been reduced by Rs. 0.17 per share.
In the current year, the Company recorded total impairment loss of Rs. 97.715 million after making quarterly
adjustments. Therefore, the company did not retain any impairment loss in equity as on December 31, 2009
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December 31, 2009 December 31, 2008

Market value / Rating Market value / Rating
Carrying value for Carrying value for

unlisted unlisted
investments investments

8.4 Quality of Available-for-Sale securities

Rupees in '000 Rupees in '000

Market Treasury Bills 4,115,530 Government  442,380  Government
Securities Securities

Pakistan Investment Bond  90,953 Government  35,202 Government
Securities Securities

Ordinary shares of listed companies

Dewan Cement Limited  -    5,998 BB
Pakistan State Oil Company Limited  30,438 AA+/A1+  7,229 AAA
Oil and Gas Development Company Limited  22,123 AAA/A1+  9,498 AAA
Fauji Fertilizer Company Limited  -    41,111 Unrated
The Hub Power Company Limited  51,031 AA+/A1+  5,706 Unrated
Adamjee Insurance Company Limited  -    1,018 Unrated
Pace Pakistan Limited  2,340 A/A1  3,456 A+
Habib Bank Limited  -    187 AA+
JS Bank Limited  10,851 A/A1  12,261 A
KASB Securities Limited 27,346 A+/A1  60,532 A+
Pakistan Telecommunication Company Limited  47,655 Unrated  - -
Kot Addu Power Company Limited  22,935 Unrated  - -
D.G. Khan Cement Company Limited  65,305 Unrated  - -
Lucky Cement Limited  26,886 Unrated  - -
Engro Chemicals Pakistan Limited  43,989 AA/A1+ -  -
Pakistan Petroleum Limited  57,259 Unrated  - -
National Bank of Pakistan  44,622 AAA/A1+ - -

 452,780  146,996 
Units of mutual funds

Pak Oman Advantage Fund  30,282 AA- (f)  21,688 AA- (f)

Term Finance Certificates (TFCs) and Sukuks

Listed TFCs

Faysal Bank Limited  151 AA-  2,805 AA-
Engro Chemicals Pakistan Limited  495,185 AA  43,289 AA
NIB Bank Limited  229,862 A  142,831 A+
Allied Bank Limited  22,036 A+  62,545 AA-
Bank Al Falah Limited - 3rd Issue 9,985 AA-  9,766 AA-
Askari Bank Limited - 3rd Issue  250,000 AA-  9,644 AA-
Pace Pakistan Limited 575 A+  582 AA-
Standard Chartered Bank (Pakistan) Limited - 2nd Issue  3,712 AA  25,102 A+
United Bank Limited - 1st Issue  93,950 AA  52,419 AA
United Bank Limited - 2nd Issue  51,397 AA  139,877 AA
United Bank Limited - 4th Issue  134,919 AA  -   
Saudi Pak Leasing Company Limited  32,475 BB+  45,882 A-
Pak Arab Fertilizer Limited  167,655 AA  32,810 AA



55

Unlisted TFCs and Sukuks

Sui Southern Gas Company Limited  500,000  AA  500,000  AA
Eden Housing (Private) Limited  350,000  BBB+  400,000  A
AZGARD Nine Limited  24,980  AA-  24,990  AA-
New Allied Electronics (Private) Limited  75,000 D  112,500 D
Karachi Shipyard and Engineering Works Limited  9,981  Unrated  9,977  Unrated
Maple Leaf Cement Factory Limited  202,993 D  203,850 A-
Pak Electron Limited - 3rd Issue  200,000 A+  200,000 A
Kohat Cement Company Limited  24,150 Unrated  22,450  Unrated
Al Abbas Sugar Mills Limited  121,771 A+  -
Bank Al Falah Limited  264,000 AA-  -
Bank Al Habib Limited  229,908 AA  -
Jahangir Siddiqui & Co. Limited 58,612 AA+  -
JDW Sugar Mills Limited  91,254  A  -
Pak American Fertilizer Limited - 2nd Issue 65,331  A+  -

 3,709,882  2,041,319
  8,399,427  2,687,585

8.7 Particulars of investments in ordinary shares of listed companies

Name of investee company No. of shares / Nominal / paid Total nominal Cost as at
units held up value per paid-up value  December 31,

share/unit 2009

8.7.1 Available-for-sale                                            Rupees          ….....Rupees in '000…….

Pakistan State Oil Company Limited  102,334 10  1,023 30,160
Oil and Gas Development Company Limited  200,000 10  2,000 21,534
The Hub Power Company Limited  1,641,940 10  16,419 51,462
Pace Pakistan Limited  400,000 10  4,000 8,347
JS Bank Limited  2,136,000 10  21,360 48,242
KASB Securities Limited  2,921,617 10  29,216 122,968
Pakistan Telecommunication Company Limited  2,700,000 10  27,000 46,576
Kot Addu Power Company Limited  500,000 10  5,000 22,539
D.G. Khan Cement Company Limited  2,005,667 10  20,057 57,343
Lucky Cement Limited  405,891 10  4,059 25,406
Engro Chemicals Pakistan Limited  240,024 10  2,400 44,179
Pakistan Petroleum Limited  302,015 10  3,020  55,248
National Bank of Pakistan  600,000 10  6,000  46,424

Carrying value (before revaluation and provision) 
   of listed Shares 'available-for-sale' 580,428
Provision for diminution in value of investments (138,190)
Surplus on revaluation of securities 10,542
Market value as at December 31, 2009 452,780

December 31, December 31,
2009 2008

8.5 Unrealized gain / (loss) on revaluation of investment                                  Rupees in '000
classified as held-for-trading

Ordinary shares of listed companies  898 -
898 -

8.6 Particulars of investments in Federal Government Securities
December 31,

2009
Rupees in '000

Market Treasury Bills 4,113,840
Pakistan Investment Bonds 95,008
Carrying value (before revaluation) of investments in federal government securities 4,208,848
Deficit on revaluation of securities (2,365)
Market value as at December 31, 2009 4,206,483
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8.7.2 Held-for-Trading

Pakistan Telecommunication
    Company Limited 500,000 10  5,000 8,933
D.G. Khan Cement

      Company Limited  237,847 10  2,378 6,738

Carrying value
      (before revaluation and provision) 
        of listed shares 'Held-for-trading' 15,671

Surplus on revaluation of securities  898

Market value as at December 31, 2009 16,569

8.8 Particulars of investment in units of
    mutual funds

Pak Oman Advantage Fund  2,883,999 10  28,840 28,840

Carrying value
    (before revaluation and provision) 
    of mutual funds units  'available-for-sale' 28,840

Provision for diminution in
    value of investments (3,576)

Surplus on revaluation of securities 5,018

Market value as at December 31, 2009 30,282

Name of investee company No. of shares / Nominal / paid Total nominal Cost as at
units held up value per paid-up value  December 31,

share/unit 2009

                                           Rupees          ….....Rupees in '000…….
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December 31, December 31,
2009 2008

Note                          Rupees in '000
9. ADVANCES - net

Loans, cash credits, running finances, etc.
    In Pakistan 1,700,571 1,062,744

Net investment in finance lease
    In Pakistan 9.2 57,053 -

Advances - gross 9.1 1,757,624 1,062,744

Provision for non-performing advances - Specific 9.3 (16,131) -
Provision for non-performing advances - General (9,000) -

9.4 (25,131) -
Advances - net of provision 1,732,493 1,062,744

9.1 Particulars of advances (Gross)

9.1.1 In local currency 1,757,624 1,062,744
In foreign currencies -  -

1,757,624 1,062,744

9.1.2 Short term (for upto one year) 483,308 612,744
Long term (for over one year) 1,274,316 450,000

1,757,624 1,062,744

9.2 NET INVESTMENT IN                                                           2009 2008
FINANCE LEASE Not later Later than Total Total

than one one year 
year and less than

five years

       ...................................... Rupees in '000 …..................................

Lease rentals receivable  13,413 62,834 76,247  -

Residual value - 5,167 5,167 -

Minimum lease payments 13,413 68,001 81,414 -

Financial charges for future periods (8,649) (15,712) (24,361) -

Present value of minimum lease payments 4,764 52,289 57,053 -

9.2.1 The lease is a syndicated lease executed for a term of 5 years. Security deposit has been obtained up to 10% 
of the cost of investment at the time of disbursement. The rate of return is the 6 months KIBOR plus 5% per 
annum. Lease rental is receivable quarterly in arrears. The asset is insured in favour of the Company.
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9.3 Advances include Rs. 282.065 million which have been placed under non-performing status as detailed below:

2009
 Rupees in '000

Classified Advances Provision Required Provision Held
Domestic    Overseas    Total     Domestic    Overseas     Total    Domestic    Overseas Total

Category of Classification

Other assets especially
   mentioned  - - - - - - - - -
Substandard 282,065 - 282,065 16,131 - 16,131 16,131 - 16,131
Doubtful -  -   -   -    -  -  - - -
Loss  -  -   -   -    -  -  -  - -

282,065  -   282,065 16,131  -  16,131 16,131 - 16,131

9.4 Particulars of provision against non-performing advances
2009 2008

Specific General Total  Specific  General Total

                    -------------------------- Rupees in '000 -----------------------

Opening balance  -    -    -    -  - -
Charge for the year 16,131  9,000  25,131  -  -  -
Closing balance  16,131  9,000  25,131  -  -  -

9.4.1 Particulars of provisions against non-performing advances

2009 2008
Specific General Total Specific General Total

                     -------------------------- Rupees in '000 -----------------------

In local currency 16,131  9,000  25,131  -   -  -
In foreign currencies  -    -    -    -   - -

16,131  9,000  25,131  -   - -
 
9.5 PARTICULARS OF LOANS AND ADVANCES                          December 31,          December 31,

TO DIRECTORS, ASSOCIATED COMPANIES, ETC.                                  2009                   2008

         Rupees in '000 
Debts due by directors, executives or officers of the Company or any of
them either severally or jointly with any other persons:

Balance at beginning of the year 29,743 9,962
Loans granted during the year 13,271 22,682
Repayments (5,355) (2,901)
Balance at end of the year 37,659 29,743

9.6 Details of loans written offs of Rs. 500,000 and above

There were no write offs of loans and no financial reliefs were allowed during the year.

10. OPERATING FIXED ASSETS                      Note

Capital work-in-progress 10.1  460 -
Property and equipment 10.2 33,651 39,522
Intangible assets 10.3 3,503 4,812

37,614 44,334
10.1 Capital work-in-progress

Advance to supplier 460  -



2008
COST                                                        DEPRECIATION Rate of

Book value depreciation
As at Additions / Adjustment As at As at Charge for  Adjustment As at as at

January (Deletions)  December 31, January 01, the year /  December 31, December 31,
01, 2008 2008 (disposal) 2008  2008

                                          .......................................…............................................Rupees in '000...................................…........................................................
Owned

Furniture and fixture  3,130  6,144  -    6,144  158  533  -  442  5,702 20%
 (3,130)  (249)

Leasehold improvement  8,068  9,164  (2,399)  9,164  407  862  (46)  628  8,536 20%
 (5,669)  (595)

Office equipment  775  2,233  -    2,198  32  208  -  185  2,013 20%
 (810)  (55)

Computers  5,379  2,175  -    5,344  247  1,554  -  1,568  3,776 33.33%
 (2,210)  (233)

Vehicles  35  515  -    550  2  21  -  23  527 20%

Mobile set  -  133  -    88 - 38 - 28  60 50%
 (45)  (10)

 17,387  20,364  (2,399)  23,488 846  3,216  (46)  2,874  20,614
Assets held under  (11,864) (1,142)
finance lease:
Vehicles  20,197  4,300  -    23,597 812 4,081  -  4,689  18,908 20%

 (900)  (204)

 37,584  24,664  (2,399)  47,085 1,658  7,297  (46)  7,563  39,522
(12,764)  (1,346)

10.2 Property and equipment
  2009

COST                                                   DEPRECIATION Rate of
Book value depreciation

As at Additions / Adjustment As at As at Charge for  Adjustment As at as at
January  (Deletions)  December 31, January 01, the year /  December 31, December 31,
01, 2009 2009 (disposal) 2009  2009

                                       .......................................…............................................Rupees in '000...................................…........................................................
Owned

Furniture and fixture  6,144  29  (35)  6,117  442  1,234  (10)  1,659  4,458 20%
 (21)  (7)

Leasehold improvement  9,164  30  (449)  8,745  628  1,837  (120)  2,345  6,400 20%
Office equipment  2,198  230  -    2,428  185  470  -    655  1,773 20%
Computers  5,344  1,530  -    6,874  1,568  2,014  -    3,582  3,292 33.33%
Vehicles  550  4,237  -    4,292  23  623  -    556  3,736 20%

 (495) (90)
Mobile set  88  129  -    202  28  68  -    81  121 50%

 (15)  (15)

 23,488  6,185  (484)  28,658 2,874  6,246  (130)  8,878  19,780
(531)  (112)

Assets held under
finance lease:

Vehicles  23,597  -    -    22,208  4,689  4,048  -    8,337  13,871 20%
 (1,389)  (400)

 47,085  6,185  (484)  50,866  7,563  10,294  (130)  17,215  33,651 
 (1,920)  (512)
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10.2.1 Details of disposal of fixed assets

Details of assets whose original cost or the book value exceeds rupees one million or two hundred and fifty thousand, whichever is lower are given below:

 Particulars of assets  Cost  Net Book Sale  (Gain) /  Mode of Disposal Particulars of Purchaser
Value Proceed Loss

                             …....................Rupees in '000….........................

Vehicles
     Honda Civic  1,389  989  1,223  (234)  Insurance Claim Saudi Pak Insurance Company Limited

   Mehran  459  382  420  (38)  Insurance Claim Saudi Pak Insurance Company Limited

Other assets (having book value of less than
Rs.250,000 or cost of less than Rs.1,000,000)  72  37 33  4 Company policy / quotation Employees / New Unique Motor Cycle

 1,920  1,408 1,676  (268)

10.3 Intangible assets
2009

COST AMORTISATION Book value as Rate of
As at Additions As at As at Amortisation As at at December Amortisation

January 01,  December 31, January 01, for the year December 31, 31, 2009
2009 2009 2009 2009

                                                      …..................................................Rupees in '000…..................................................

Computer software  6,127  857  6,984 1,315  2,166  3,481  3,503 33.33%

 6,127  857  6,984  1,315  2,166  3,481  3,503 

2008
COST AMORTISATION Book value as Rate of

As at Additions As at As at Amortisation As at at December Amortisation
January 01,  December 31, January 01, for the year December 31, 31, 2008

2008 2008 2008 2008

                                         …..................................................Rupees in '000…..................................................

Computer software 2,192  3,935  6,127 118  1,197  1,315  4,812 33.33%

2,192  3,935  6,127  118  1,197  1,315  4,812 
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December 31, December 31,
2009 2008

                           Rupees in '000 

11. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS / (LIABILITIES) - NET

Taxable temporary difference

Difference between accounting book value of fixed assets and tax base (11,984) (2,055)
Provision for diminution in the value of investments (20,786) -

Deductible temporary differences

Provision for compensated absences and bonus 3,975 579
Difference between book value of leased assets and obligation under finance lease 841 631
Deficit on revaluation of assets - investments 828  6,205
Provision for diminution in the value of investments - 13,125
Provision on advances 8,796  -
Provision on other assets 15,987  8,751

(2,343) 27,236

11.1 Movement in temporary differences during the year

Balance as  Recognized Recognized in Balance as at  Recognized  Recognized in Balance as at
at January in profit and deficit in December 31,  in profit and deficit in  December 31,

01, 2008 loss account revaluation of 2008 loss account revaluation of 2009 
assets assets

account account
                                                                                     ........…..................................................Rupees in '000…..........................................................

Taxable temporary difference

Difference between accounting 
   book value of fixed assets and tax base (2,803)  748 - (2,055) (9,929) - (11,984)

Deductible temporary differences

Provision for compensated absences
   and leave fare assistance 740  (161)  -  579  3,396  - 3,975
Difference between book value of leased
   assets and obligation under finance lease  400  231  -  631  209  -  840
Provision for diminution in the value
   of investments  500  -  5,705  6,205  -  (5,376)  829
Provision for permanent 

      diminution on TFCs / Sukuks  -  13,125  -  13,125  (33,911)  -  (20,786)
Provision on advances  -  - -  -  8,796  - 8,796
Provision on other assets  -  8,751  -  8,751  7,236 -  15,987

 (1,163)  22,694  5,705  27,236  (24,203)  (5,376)  (2,343)
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December 31, December31,
2009 2008

Note                   Rupees in '000 
12. OTHER ASSETS

Income / Mark-up accrued in local currency 204,487  127,691
Advances, deposits and other prepayments 12.1  62,347  65,867
Unrealized gain on interest rate swap contracts 4,318 -
Others  30 -

271,182  193,558

Less: Provision held against advances, deposits and other prepayments 12.2  50,000  25,000

Other assets (net of provisions)  221,182  168,558

12.1 This includes Rs. 50 million (2008: Rs. 50 million) advance against Pre-IPO
   placement of Term Finance Certificates.

12.2 Provision against other assets

Opening balance 25,000 -
Charge for the year 25,000  25,000
Closing balance 50,000  25,000

13. BORROWINGS
In Pakistan 5,296,808  186,154
Outside Pakistan - -

5,296,808 186,154
Particulars of borrowings with respect to Currencies

In local currency  5,296,808 186,154
In foreign currencies - -

5,296,808 186,154
13.1 Details of borrowings secured / unsecured

13.2 Secured
Repurchase agreement borrowings 13.3  3,896,808  186,154
Borrowing from Bank 13.4  250,000 -

4,146,808  186,154
Unsecured
Letter of placements 13.5  1,150,000 - 

5,296,808  186,154

13.3 These carry mark-up rate ranging from 12% - 12.40% (2008: 14.9%) per annum. They are repayable within
1 month to 3 months.

13.4 This carries mark-up at the rate of 12.33% and is repayable within 3 months. This is secured by way of floating 
   charge over TFCs.

13.5 These carry mark-up rate ranging from 12% -13.05%. These are repayable within 1 month.

December 31, December 31,
2009 2008

Note                               Rupees in '000 
14. DEPOSITS AND OTHER ACCOUNTS

Customers
Certificate of investment- remunerative 14.1  395,000  -

14.1 These carry mark-up rates ranging from 11.5% -13% (2008: NIL). These are repayable within 1 month to 10 months.

14.2 Particulars of deposits

In local currency 395,000  -
In foreign currencies  -  -

395,000  -



15. LIABILITIES AGAINST ASSETS SUBJECT TO FINANCE LEASE

December 31, December 31, 
2009 2008

Minimum Financial Principal Minimum Financial Principal
lease charges for outstanding lease charges for outstanding

payments future periods payments future periods

                                                         .......…..................................................Rupees in '000….........................................................

Not later than one year 5,489 1,693  3,796  5,966  2,574 3,392
Later than one year and not

later than five years  14,156  1,679  12,477  21,205  3,887  17,318

19,645 3,372  16,273  27,171  6,461 20,710

15.1 The Company has entered into lease agreements with various financial institutions for lease of vehicles. Lease rentals are payable 
in monthly and quarterly installments. Financial charges included in lease rentals are determined on the basis of discount 
factors applied at the rates ranging from 12.41% to 18.66% (2008: 11.42% to 18.66%) per annum. At the end of lease term, the 
Company has the option to acquire the assets subject to adjustment of security deposits.
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December 31, December 31,
2009 2008

                           Rupees in '000
16. OTHER LIABILITIES

Mark-up / Return / Interest payable in local currency 47,167 76
Accrued expenses 17,578 10,634
Advance against equity 8,923 8,832
Current taxation (provisions less payments) 30,487 12,024
Payable against purchase of shares - 4,237
Brokerage commission payable 903  -
Payable to contractors - 2,319
Unearned commission 2,477 1,643
Security deposit against lease 5,167 -
Others 1,874 1,104

114,576  40,869

17. SHARE CAPITAL

2009 2008
                 No. of shares

17.1 Authorized Capital

600,000,000 600,000,000 Ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each 6,000,000 6,000,000

17.2  Issued, subscribed and paid up

 500,000,000 500,000,000 Ordinary shares fully paid in cash 5,000,000  5,000,000

17.3 The Ministry of Finance and Secretary Economic Affairs Division holds 249,996,667 and 3,333 shares (2008: 249,996,667 and 3,333
shares ) respectively on behalf of the Government of Pakistan and remaining 250,000,000 (2008: 250,000,000 shares) are held by
the Brunei Investment Agency.

17.4 SBP through BSD Circular No. 07 of 2009 dated April 15, 2009 required the Banks / DFIs to raise their minimum paid up capital upto
Rs.6 billion by the end of financial year 2009.

17.5 The Company has obtained extension from SBP till January 31, 2010 in meeting the minimum capital requirement for the year 
ended December 31, 2009. SBP has granted the extension via letter reference No. BSD/BAI-3/608/012/2010 dated January 6, 2010.
Subsequent to year end, the Company has increased its paid up capital from Rs. 5 billion to Rs.6 billion.
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December 31, December 31,
2009 2008

                              Rupees in '000 
18. DEFICIT ON REVALUATION OF ASSETS - NET

18.1 Deficit on revaluation of Available-for-sale securities - net of tax

Market Treasury Bills 1,690 (1,790)
Pakistan Investment Bonds (4,055) (11,494)
Listed securities
- Term Finance Certificates (18,506) (4,444)

 - Units of mutual funds 5,018 (3,576)
- Ordinary shares of listed companies 10,542 (66,750)

(5,311) (88,054)

Deferred tax asset recognized 828 6,205
(4,483) (81,849)

19. CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

19.1 Transaction related contingent liability

Standby letter of credit 438,745 447,707

19.2 Dawood Islamic Bank Limited filed a legal suit for damages against the Company for alleged non performance of underwriting 
commitment to issue shares at a premium. Legal advisors of the Company are of the opinion that the possibility of the Company 
being subject to any liability in relation to the suit is negligible.

19.3 Commitments for underwriting

Ordinary shares 10,000 -

December 31, December 31,
2009 2008

                             Rupees in '000

19.4 Commitments for the acquisition of software 560  1,187

19.5 Commitments to extend credit  691,801 150,000

20. Derivative Instruments

The Company is involved in derivative transactions comprising of Interest Rate Swaps with a commercial bank. 
Accounting policies in respect of derivative financial instruments are mentioned in note 4.7.

Product Analysis                                             December 31, 2009
                                             Interest Rate Swaps

Counter parties No. of Notional
contracts Principal

                                                    Rupees in '000
With Banks for
  Hedging  - -
  Market Making 2 200,000

2 200,000

Maturity Analysis Number of                Notional               ------------------------- Mark to Market -------------------------
contracts  principal Negative Positive Net

Remaining maturity

2 to 3 years 2  200,000 (47,861)  52,179 4,318
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December 31, December 31,
2009 2008

21. MARK-UP / RETURN / INTEREST EARNED                                    Note                 Rupees in '000 
On Loans and advances to:

   i) Customers 145,549  115,060
   ii) Financial institutions 41,075 2,113

On Investments in:
   i) Available-for-sale securities 624,464 280,974

On Deposits with financial institutions 127,574 249,500
On Securities purchased under resale agreements 31,572 24,607
On Interest rate swap contracts 987 -

971,221 672,254

22. MARK-UP / RETURN / INTEREST EXPENSED

Deposits 38,246 -
Short-term borrowings 37,182 86,889
Securities sold under repurchase agreements 132,022 44,912

207,450 131,801
23. GAIN / (LOSS) ON SALE OF SECURITIES

Federal Government Securities
   - Market Treasury Bills 885 -
   - Pakistan Investment Bonds 20,358  -
Ordinary shares of listed companies 124,486 (111)
Term Finance Certificates 60,429 195
Units of open end mutual funds - 37,061

206,158 37,145
24. OTHER INCOME

Net profit on sale of property and equipment 268  89
Unrealized gain on interest rate swap contracts 4,318  -
Others 7 180

4,593 269

25. ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Salaries and allowances 73,912  58,545
Contribution to defined contribution plan 2,794 2,267
Non-executive directors' fees, allowances and other expenses 367 1,807
Rent, taxes, insurance, electricity, etc. 13,112 13,137
Legal and professional charges 2,576 8,903
Travelling and accommodation 3,743 3,194
Communications 1,045 1,111
Repairs and maintenance 2,349 1,814
Finance charges on leased assets 2,303 2,455
Brokerage commission 5,321 5,269
Capital Value Tax (CVT) 41 215
Stationery and printing 1,490 1,141
Advertisement and publicity 370 1,000
Donation 25.1  500 -
Auditors' remuneration 25.2  1,242  800
Depreciation 10.2  10,164 7,251
Amortisation 10.3  2,166  1,197
Fuel expense  3,961  3,681
Medical expense  1,486  1,032
Fee and subscription  1,552 2,338
Bank charges  50 199
Others  1,799 1,319

132,343 118,675
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25.1 This represents donation paid to The Prime Minister Terrorism Relief Fund. Donations were not made to any 
donee in which a director or his spouse had any interest at any time during the year.

December 31, December 31,
25.2 Auditors' remuneration 2009 2008

                          Rupees in '000 
Audit fee 300 200
Half yearly review fee 150 100
Fee for the audit of provident fund  50 -
Special certifications 100 450
Other services 550 -
Out-of-pocket expenses  92 50

1,242 800
26. OTHER CHARGES

Penalties imposed by the SBP 400 -

27. TAXATION

For the year
   Current  212,236 170,972
   Deferred  24,203  (22,694)

 236,439  148,278
For the prior year / period
   Current (16,718) 2,921

219,721 151,199

27.1 Relationship between tax expense and accounting profit

Accounting profit for the year 667,174  373,465

Tax rate 35% 35%

Tax on accounting profit 233,511 130,713
Tax effect of:

    Income chargeable to tax at special rate (4,034) (1,751)
   Income exempt from tax (28,275) (12,932)
   Expenses that are inadmissible in determining taxable profit 43,712 24,998
   Prior year charge (16,718) -
   Others (8,475) 7,250

219,721 148,278

27.2 The income tax returns for the tax year 2008 and tax year 2009 have been filed and the same are deemed as assessed under the 
provisions of section 120 of the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001, unless amended otherwise.

December 31, December 31,
2009 2008

28. BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE

Profit for the year Rupees in '000 447,453 222,266
Weighted average number of ordinary shares Numbers in '000 500,000 429,235
Basic earnings per share Rupees 0.89 0.52

29. DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic and diluted earnings per share are same.

December 31, December 31,
2009  2008

                                                                   Rupees in '000
30. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and balance with treasury banks 23,869 4,267
Balance with other banks 191,915 14,870

215,784 19,137
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December 31, December 31,
 2009 2008

31. STAFF STRENGTH
Number Number

Permanent 34 30
Outsourced 15 13

Total staff strength 49 43

32. DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN

The Company operates a provident fund scheme for all its permanent employees. Equal monthly contribution at the rate of 8.33% 
is made both by the Company (employer) and employees.

December 31, December 31,
2009 2008

                                                     Rupees in '000
Contribution to provident fund made during the year
Contribution made by the Company 2,794 2,267
Contribution made by employees 2,794 2,267

5,588 4,534

33. COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVES

Chief Executive Directors Executives
December 31,   December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,

2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

                                                       ..................................................Rupees in '000..................................................

Fees  -  -  -  -  -  -
Managerial remuneration  12,800  11,200  -  -  47,489  34,262
Contribution to defined

    contribution plan  552  552  -  - 2,807  1,575
Utilities  302  160  -  -  3,142  2,864
Medical  179  230  -  -  1,265  730
Travelling allowance  227  89  36  1,807  351 -

-
14,060  12,231  367  1,807  55,054  39,431

Number of persons 1 1 3 3 28 20

The Chief executive and executives are provided with Company maintained car.

34. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

All quoted investments have been stated at their market values as disclosed in note 8. All un-quoted investments 
have been stated at lower of cost or break up value, being their estimated fair values.

Fair value of loans and advances, other assets and other liabilities cannot be determined with reasonable 
accuracy due to absence of current and active market for such assets and liabilities and reliable data regarding 
market rates for similar instruments. Loans and advances are repriced frequently on market rates and are 
reduced for any impairment against non-performing advances determined in accordance with Prudential 
Regulations as stated in note 4.4.

The maturity and re-pricing profile and effective rates are stated in notes 39.3.1 and 39.2.4 respectively.

In the opinion of the management, fair value of all other assets and liabilities including long-term deposits 
cannot be calculated with sufficient accuracy as active market does not exist for these instruments. Fair value of 
these assets and liabilities are not significantly different from their carrying values since assets and liabilities are 
either short term in nature or in the case of deposits, they are frequently repriced.
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35. Segment details with respect to Business Activities

The segment analysis with respect to business activity is as follows:

Corporate Trading and Commercial
Finance Sales Banking

                              ......................Rupees in '000.......................
2009
Total income 26,337 1,092,006 106,942
Total expenses 7,312 521,108 29,691
Net income 19,025 570,898 77,251
Segment assets (gross) - 11,094,708 1,310,740
Segment non performing loans - 32,066 250,000
Investment provided for - 386,223 -
Segment provision required *  - 253,487 20,982
Segment liabilities - 5,209,540 615,460
Segment return on assets (ROA) (%) - 7.05% 8.23%
Segment return on net assets (ROA) (%) - 11.33% 12.98%
Segment cost of funds (%) - 10.96% 10.96%

* The provision required against each segment represents provision held on advances and investments.

2008
Total income 41,182 656,864 59,816
Total expenses 13,620 350,895 19,882
Net income 27,562 305,969 39,934
Segment assets (gross) - 5,095,333 567,481
Segment non performing loans - - -
Segment provision required - - -
Segment liabilities - 222,907 24,826
Segment return on assets (ROA) (%) - 5.48% 6.27%
Segment return on net assets (ROA) (%) - 7.43% 8.51%
Segment cost of funds (%) - 9.47% 9.47%



36. TRUST ACTIVITIES

The Company has assumed the role of Trustee to certain issues of Term Finance Certificates (“TFCs”) / Sukuks and 
is holding the trust properties in fiduciary capacity on behalf of the relevant beneficiaries. In this behalf, the Company
is fulfilling all its obligations and duties in accordance with the provisions of the respective trust documents.

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company has related party relationship with its employee defined contribution plan, its key management 
personnel and Bank of Punjab and First Punjab Modaraba due to common directorship. Details of loan and 
advances to the executives are given in note 9.5 to these financial statements. There are no transactions with 
key management personnel other than under their terms of employment. Contributions to an approved defined
contribution plans are disclosed in note 32 to these financial statements. Remuneration to the executive is 
disclosed in note 33 to the financial statements. Transactions between the Company and its related parties 
are carried out under normal course of business except employee staff loans that are as per terms of employment.

Details of transactions with related parties during the year, other than those which have been disclosed 
elsewhere in these financial statements, are as follows:

2009 2008
Key Other related Key Other related

management parties management parties
personnel personnel

                                                       ..........................................Rupees in.......................................
Advances
As at beginning of the year 25,465 - 7,024 -
Given during the period 6,789 - 20,453 -
Repaid during the period (3,865) - (2,012) -
As at end of the year 28,389 - 25,465 -

Borrowings
As at beginning of the year - - - -
Given during the period - 200,000 - -
Repaid during the period - (200,000) - -
As at end of the year - - - -

Placements made during the year - 126,236 - -
Placements matured during the year - 451,271 - -
Mark-up / return / interest earned 1,343  8,147 - -
Mark-up / return / interest expensed - 6,705 - -
Reimbursement of expenses  3,388 - - -

38. CAPITAL - ASSESSMENT AND ADEQUACY 

38.1 Scope of Application and Capital Structure
The Basel II Framework is applicable to the Company and the regulatory capital comprises of Tier I capital only:

Tier I Capital: Includes fully issued, subscribed and paid up capital, general reserves as per the financial statements 
and net un-appropriated profits, etc after deductions for deficit on revaluation of available for sale investments.

Tier II Capital: Includes general reserves for loan losses, revaluation reserves, exchange translation reserves, 
undisclosed reserves and subordinated debt.

Tier III Capital has also been prescribed by the SBP for managing market risk.
The required capital is achieved by the Company through:

(a)    enhancement in the risk profile of asset mix at the existing volume level;
(b)    ensuring better recovery management; and
(c)    maintaining acceptable profit margins.
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38.2 CAPITAL ADEQUACY

 The risk weighted assets to capital ratio is calculated in accordance with the State Bank's guidelines on capital adequacy.

December 31, December 31,

2009 2008
                             Rupees in '000

Regulatory Capital Base

Tier I Capital

    Shareholders equity 5,000,000 5,000,000
     Reserves 162,093 72,602

    Unappropriated profits 648,369 290,407
5,810,462 5,363,009

Deductions:
    Book value of Goodwill and Intangibles 3,503 4,812
    Deficit on account of revaluation of investments held in AFS category 5,311 81,849

8,814 86,661
         Total Tier I Capital 5,801,648 5,276,348

Eligible Tier II Capital - -
Eligible Tier III Capital - -

Total Regulatory Capital Base 5,801,648 5,276,348

38.3 Risk Weighted Exposures
Capital Requirements  Risk Weighted Assets

December 31, 2009 December 31, 2008 December 31, 2009 December 31, 2008

                                                              ..................Rupees in '000.................
Credit Risk

Portfolios subject to standardized approach (Simple or Comprehensive)
On balance sheet exposures
Claims

On Public sector entities in Pakistan 2,639 - 26,389 -
   On Banks 44,712 23,496 447,122 261,067

On Corporates 309,231 180,630 3,092,310 2,007,003
Categorized as Retail portfolio 287 221 2,870 2,458
Fully secured by Residential property 1,184 834 11,841 9,263
On Listed equity investments and
   regulatory capital instruments 180,751 43,177 1,807,514 479,742
On Investments in fixed assets 3,411 3,557 34,111 39,522
On All other assets 1,342 19,632 13,416 218,135

543,557 271,547 5,435,573 3,017,190
Off balance sheet exposures
Non-market related 63,370 8,101 633,703 90,008
Market related 123 - 1,225 -

63,493 8,101 634,928 90,008
607,050 279,648 6,070, 501 3,107,198

Market Risk
Capital Requirement for portfolios subject to Standardized Approach

 
   Interest rate risk 1,239 - 12,388 -

    Equity position risk, etc. 3,315 - 33,150 -
4,554 - 45,538 -

Operational Risk
Capital Requirement for operational risks 102,709 65,559 1,027,088 728,436
           TOTAL 714,313 345,207 7,143,127 3,835,634

Capital Adequacy Ratio
   Total eligible regulatory capital held (Note: 38.2) (a) 5,801,648 5,276,348

   Total Risk Weighted Assets (b) 7,143,127 3,835,634

   Capital Adequacy Ratio      (a) / (b) 81% 138%



38.3.1 Credit Risk Approach

The Company is following standardized approach for all its Credit Risk Exposures. Under standardized approach, 
the capital requirement is based on the credit rating assigned to the counterparties by the External Credit 
Assessment Institutions (ECAIs) duly recognized by SBP for capital adequacy purposes. In this connection, the 
Company utilizes the credit ratings assigned by ECAIs and has recognized agencies such as PACRA (Pakistan 
Credit Rating Agency), JCR-VIS (Japan Credit Rating Company – Vital Information Systems), Fitch, Moody’s and 
Standard & Poors which are also recognized by the SBP.

The Standardised Approach to credit risk sets out fixed risk weights corresponding, where appropriate, to 
external credit assessment levels or for unrated claims.

38.3.1.1 Selection of ECAIs

The Company selects particular ECAI(s) for each type of claim. Amongst the ECAIs that have been recognized as 
eligible by SBP, the following are being used against each respective claim type.

Exposures to Public Sector Entities (PSEs): For PSE exposures, ratings of PACRA and JCR-VIS are used to arrive 
at risk weights.

Bank Exposures: For foreign banks (i.e., incorporated outside Pakistan), ratings of Moody’s, S&P and Fitch is 
being used to arrive at risk weights. However, for local banks (i.e., incorporated in Pakistan) ratings of PACRA 
and JCR-VIS are used.

Corporate Exposures: Ratings assigned by PACRA and JCR-VIS are used for claims on Corporates (excluding 
equity exposures).

38.3.1.2 Use of ECAI Ratings

The Company prefers solicited ratings over unsolicited ratings at all times, owing to the greater degree of 
accuracy (in general) associated with solicited ratings as compared to unsolicited ratings. Unsolicited ratings 
may only be used in cases where a solicited rating is not available.

38.3.1.3 Mapping to SBP Rating Grades

The selected final ratings (after application of the principles stated above) for all exposures need to be translated 
to the standard rating grades given by the SBP.

38.3.1.4 Types of exposures and ECAIs used

December 31, 2009

Exposures JCR-VIS PACRA

Corporate Ã Ã
Banks Ã Ã
SMEs Ã Ã
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38.3.1.5 Credit exposures subject to Standardized Approach

December 31, 2009 December 31, 2008

Exposures Rating Amount Deduction Net Amount Amount Deduction Net Amount
Category Outstanding CRM Outstanding CRM

Corporate 1  1,364,815 - 1,364,815 604,101 - 604,101
2  1,037,390 - 1,037,390 1,089,177 - 1,089,177

3 , 4  513,810 - 513,810 551,577 - 551,577
5 , 6  621,398 - 621,398 114,606 - 114,606

Banks 1 980,244 - 980,244 1,761,703 - 1,761,703
2 , 3  325,166 325,166 9,350 9,350
4 , 5 - - - 479,742 - 479,742

Claims on
banks with
original
maturity of 3
months or
less 442,448 - 442,448 - - -
Unrated 1,835,129 - 1,835,129 618,109 - 618,109
Others 6,126,487 - 6,126,487 - - -

Total 13,246,887 - 13,246,887 5,228,365 - 5,228,365

38.4 Capital Management

Objectives of Managing Capital

Capital Management aims to ensure that there is sufficient capital to meet the capital requirements of the 
Company as determined by the underlying business strategy and the minimum requirements of the SBP. The 
Capital Management process is governed by the Company’s Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO). ALCO is 
responsible for managing the Company’s capital position vis-a-vis internal as well as regulatory requirements. 
ALCO also reviews the volume and mix of the Company’s assets, liabilities and funding sources in light of 
liquidity, capital, risk and profitability considerations.

Company's capital management seeks:

- to comply with the capital requirements set by the regulators and the capital is comparable to the peers;

- to increase strategic and tactical flexibility in the deployment of capital to allow for the timely reallocation 
of capital;

- to improve the liquidity of the Company’s assets to allow for an optimal deployment of the Company’s 
resources;

- to protect the Company against unexpected events and maintain strong ratings;

- to safeguard the Company's ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide 
adequate return to shareholders;

- availability of adequate capital (including the quantum) at a reasonable cost so as to enable the Company 
to expand; and

- to achieve overall low cost of capital with appropriate mix of capital elements.

Externally Imposed Capital Requirements

In order to strengthen the solvency of Banks / Development Financial Institutions (DFIs), SBP through its BSD 
Circular No. 07 of 2009 dated April 15, 2009 had asked the Banks/DFIs to raise their minimum paid up capital to 
Rs. 6 billion by the end of financial year 2009.



75

SBP through its BSD Circular No. 06, dated April 15, 2009, has directed all Banks/DFIs to achieve the minimum 
Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR) of 10% on standalone as well as on consolidated basis latest by December 31, 2009.

The paid up capital and CAR of the Company stands at Rs. 5 billion and 81% of its risk weighted exposure as at 
December 31, 2009 respectively.

The Company has obtained extension from SBP till January 31, 2010 in meeting the minimum capital requirement
for the year ended December 31, 2009. SBP has granted the extension via letter reference No. BSD/BAI-
3/608/012/2010 dated January 6, 2010. Subsequent to year end, the Company has increased its paid up capital 
from Rs. 5 billion to Rs. 6 billion.

39. RISK MANAGEMENT

The Risk Management Framework (the Framework) provides principles for identifying, assessing, and monitoring 
risk within the Company. The Framework specifies the key elements of the risk management process in order to 
maximise opportunities, to minimise adversity and to achieve improved outcomes and outputs based on 
informed decision making.

Categories of Risk

The Company generates most of its revenues by accepting Credit, Liquidity and Market Risk. Effective management
of these risks is the decisive factor in our profitability. In addition, the Company is subject to certain consequential 
risks that are common to all business undertakings. These risks are grouped under two headings: Operational 
and Reputational Risk. The Framework is organized with reference to these five risk categories, as detailed below:

Credit Risk This risk is defined as the possibility of loss due to unexpected default or a deterioration 
of credit worthiness of a counterparty.

Market Risk The risk of loss generated by adverse changes in the price of assets or contracts currently 
held by the Company (this risk is also known as price risk).

Liquidity Risk The risk that the Company is unable to meet its payment obligations or fund increases in 
assets when they fall due without incurring an unacceptable cost; the consequences of 
which may be the failure to meet obligations to repay investors and fulfill commitments to lend.

Operational Risk Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, 
people, and systems or from external events. The definition includes legal risk.

Reputational Risk The risk of failing to meet the standards of performance or behavior required or expected 
by stakeholders in commercial activities or the way in which business is conducted.

Risk Responsibilities

The Board of Directors (the Board) is accountable for overall supervision of the risk management process. The 
Board is responsible for approval of all risk policies and ensuring that these are properly implemented. Further, 
the Board appoints the senior management personnel who are capable of managing the risk activities conducted 
by the Company.

A separate unit has been set up for integrated risk management. The functions of this department is subject 
to the policies and manuals approved by the Board, Prudential Regulations and additional regulatory directives 
issued from time to time. The unit is independent of business generation and risk taking. A dynamic risk budget 
has been laid out that facilitates management of risk on a portfolio rather than on individual transaction basis. 
The risk management function is guided by the precincts of this strategy, keeping in view the risk taking 
capacity of the balance sheet as a whole. 

Different Committees have been set up to review different kinds of risks; mainly being the Assets and Liabilities 
Committee (ALCO) and the Credit Committee (CC). A comprehensive risk management manual has been 
designed which covers all significant risks including credit, liquidity, market, and operational risks and provides 
guidance to management on risk controls, limits, risk measurement tools and a reporting framework.
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39.1 Credit Risk

Credit risk, the potential default of one or more debtors, is the largest source of risk for the Company. The Company
is exposed to credit risk through its lending and investment activities. The credit risk arising from exposure to 
corporates is governed by the Credit Policy and Credit Administration Frameworks. The counterparty credit risk 
arising from Interbank lines are addressed in the Treasury policy framework.

The Company manages 3 principal sources of credit risk:

i) Sovereign credit risk on its public sector advances.

ii) Non-sovereign credit risk on its private sector advances.

iii) Counterparty credit risk on Interbank limits.

Sovereign Credit Risk

 When the Company lends to public sector borrowers, it prefers obtaining a full sovereign guarantee 
or the equivalent from the Government of Pakistan (GOP). However, certain public sector enterprises 
have a well defined cash flow stream and appropriate business model, based on which the lending is 
secured through collaterals other than GOP guarantee.

Non-Sovereign Credit Risk

When the Company lends to private sector borrowers it does not benefit from sovereign guarantees 
or the equivalent. Consequently, each borrower’s credit worthiness is analyzed on a standalone basis. 
The Company has formulated detailed internal credit rating models which assess prospective clients 
on both qualitative and quantitative factors. To supplement this, the Company has further outsourced 
a credit scoring software from a third party for the purpose. 

Counterparty Credit Risk on Interbank Limits

In the normal course of its business, the Company’s Treasury utilizes products such as Reverse Repo 
and call lending to meet the needs of the borrowers and manage its exposure to fluctuations in market 
interest rates and to temporarily invest its liquidity prior to disbursement. All of these financial instruments 
involve, to varying degrees, the risk that the counterparty in the transaction may be unable to meet 
its obligation to the Company.

Reflecting a preference for minimizing exposure to counterparty credit risk, the Company maintains 
eligibility criteria that link the exposure limits to counterparty credit ratings by external rating agencies. 
For example,the minimum rating for counterparties to be eligible for a financing relationship with the 
Company is BBB.

Credit Administration

Credit Administration Department is involved in minimizing losses that could arise due to security and 
documentation deficiencies.

Risk Analytics

To ensure a prudent distribution of asset portfolio, the Company manages its lending and investment activities 
within a framework of Borrower, Group, Product, Geographical and Sector exposure limits and risk profile 
benchmarks.

Stress Testing

The Company also conducts stress testing of its existing portfolio, which includes all assets, i.e., advances as 
well as investments. This exercise is conducted on a semi-annual basis through assigning shocks to all assets of 
the Company and assessing its resulting effect on capital adequacy.

Regular Monitoring

Regular monitoring of the advances portfolio is carried out which focuses on early problem recognition and 
influences the front office to carry out an assessment of the borrower's ability to rectify the identified problem/ 
weakness within a reasonable time-frame, consider tighter structuring of facilities, confirm that there are 
no critical deficiencies in the existing security position and, if possible, arrange for strengthening of the same 
through obtaining additional collateral. It should however, be noted that these actions are taken prior to 
incurring overdues on the facility.
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Portfolio Diversification

While expanding the advances portfolio, efficient portfolio diversification has been a key consideration despite the
relatively small size of operations.

39.1.1 SEGMENTAL INFORMATION 

39.1.1.1 Segments by class of business
                                       December 31, 2009

                     Advances (Gross)          Deposits Contingencies and 
commitments

Rupees Percent Rupees Percent Rupees Percent
in '000 in '000 in '000

Cement 340,000 20% - - - -
Textile - - - - 242,000 21%
Sugar 110,426 6% - - - -
Chemical and Pharmaceuticals 119,589 7% - - 50,000 4%
Power, Gas, Water, Sanitary 507,937 29% - - 773,546 68%
Financial 35,764 2% 250,000 63% - -
Individuals 37,659 2% - - - -
Services 215,000 12% - - - -

 Communication 200,000 11% - - - -
Paper & Board - - 73,000 18% - -
Manufacturing - - 54,000 14% - -
Other 191,249 11% 18,000 5% 75,560 7%

1,757,624 100% 395,000 100% 1,141,106 100%

                                                                        December 31, 2008
                 Advances (Gross)               Deposits Contingencies and

commitments

Rupees  Percent Rupees Percent Rupees Percent
in '000 in '000 in '000

Cement 340,000 31% - - - -
Chemical and Pharmaceuticals 160,000 15% - - - -
Power, Gas, Water, Sanitary 200,000 19% - - 447,707 75%
Financial 145,000 14% - - 100,000 17%
Individuals 29,744 3% - - - -
Services 188,000 18% - - - -
Other - - - - 51,187 9%

1,062,744 100% - - 598,894 100%
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39.1.1.3 Details of non-performing advances and specific provisions by class of business segment 

                        2009                          2008
                               ...............................Rupees in '000...............................

Classified Specific Classified Specific
Advances Provisions Advances Provisions

Held Held
Cement 250,000  11,982 - -
Financial 32,065  4,149 - -

282,065 16,131 - -
39.1.1.4 Details of non-performing advances and 

specific provisions by sector

Public / Government - - - -
Private 282,065 16,131 - -

282,065 16,131 - -

39.1.1.5 GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENT ANALYSIS
                                    December 31, 2009

Profit before Total assets Net assets Contingencies
taxation employed employed and

commitments
                             …..............................Rupees in '000…..............................

Pakistan 667,174 12,130,979 6,305,979 1,141,106

667,174 12,130,979 6,305,979 1,141,106

                                     December 31, 2008
Profit before Total assets Net assets Contingencies

taxation employed employed and
commitments

                              …..............................Rupees in '000…..............................

Pakistan 373,465 5,528,893 5,281,160 598,894

373,465 5,528,893 5,281,160 598,894

December 31, 2009
 Advances (Gross) Deposits Contingencies and commitments

 Rupees Percent Rupees Percent Rupees Percent
in '000 in '000 in '000

39.1.1.2 Segment by sector

Public / Government 50,938 3% 345,000 87% 587,807 52%
Private 1,706,686 97% 50,000 13% 553,299 48%

1,757,624 100% 395,000 100% 1,141,106 100%

               December 31, 2008
 Advances (Gross)  Deposits Contingencies and commitments

Rupees Percent Rupees Percent Rupees Percent
in '000 in '000 in '000

Public / Government - - - - - -
Private 1,062,744 100% - - 598,894 100%

1,062,744 100% - - 598,894 100%



39.2 EQUITY POSITION RISK IN THE BANKING / COMPANY BOOK

The Company makes investment for variety of purposes. Some of the investment positions of equity holding are 
made for revenue generation as part of strategic initiatives, while other equity holdings are held to earn capital gain
to support the Company's business activities.

Classification of investments

Under SBP's directives, equity investment may be classified as “Held-For-Trading (HFT)”, “Available-for-Sale (AFS)”. 
Some of the equity investments are listed and traded in public through stock exchanges, while other investments 
are unlisted and therefore illiquid. 

Policies, valuation and accounting of equity investments 

In accordance with the requirements of the SBP, valuation and accounting of equity investments is done as per the
accounting policy of investment mentioned in note 4.5 of these financial statements. Further, composition of equity
investments is available in note 8 of these financial statements.

39.2.1 Market Risk

Market Risk Function has been partially set up with current responsibility of performing basic market risk measurement,
monitoring and control functions. The Company is exposed to Interest Rate Risk and Equity Price Risk.

Market Risk Pertaining to the Trading Book

Trading Book

A trading book consists of positions in financial instruments held either with trading intent or in order to hedge 
other elements of the trading book. To be eligible for trading book, financial instruments must be held with the 
intent of trading and free of any restrictive covenants on their tradability. In addition, positions need to be frequently
and accurately valued and the portfolio should be actively managed.

The Company's trading book includes equity securities classified as ‘Held-for-trading’. These positions are actively 
managed by the capital market desk. The Company's trading book constitutes capital market equities therefore,
they are exposed to equity price risk.

Categories of Risk

Risk Pertaining to Banking Book Investment Portfolio

All investments excluding trading book are considered as part of banking book. Banking book includes:

i)   Available for sale securities

Treasury investments parked in the banking book include:

i)  Government securities

ii) Capital market investments

iii) Investments in TFCs and Sukuks

Due to the diversified nature of investments in banking book, it is subject to interest rate and equity price risk.

Interest Rate Risk – Banking Book

Government securities (PIBs & T-Bills) and other money market investments are subject to interest rate risk. Duration
analysis is carried out to capture the risk associated with these securities. Stress testing is also in place to capture 
the sensitivity of the portfolio to adverse movement in interest rates. For prudent risk management, all money 
market investments are marked to market to assess changes in the market value of investments due to interest 
rate movements.

Equity Position Risk – Banking Book

The Company's portfolio of equity securities categorized under ‘Available for Sale’ are parked in the banking book. 
These investments expose the Company to equity price risk.
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Stress Testing

The Company also conducts Stress Testing of the investment portfolio to ascertain the impact of various scenarios
on the capital adequacy and sustainability of the Company. The exercise assumes various stress conditions, with
respect to Market Risk (Rise or Fall in Interest Rates, leading to interest rate risk), Equity Price Risk resulting from
Stock Market movements, and Liquidity Risk (ability to meet short-term obligations).

Duration GAP Analysis

A Duration Gap Analysis is also conducted to ascertain the duration gap between the Company’s assets and 
liabilities, to ascertain the effect of interest rate shifts on the market value of equity interest rates.

39.2.2 Foreign Exchange Risk

Foreign Exchange Risk is the risk of loss arising from fluctuations of exchange rates. The Company does not take
any funded foreign exchange exposure, however, potential exposure is present through issuance of USD denominated
SBLC. Currently, there is no hedging mechanism for the same given the unfunded nature as well as small exposure.

December 31, 2009
Net foreign

Off-balance currency
Assets Liabilities sheet items exposure

                             .................................Rupees in '000....................................

Pakistani Rupee 12,130,975 5,825,000 (438,745) 5,867,230
United States Dollar 4 - 438,745 438,749

12,130,979 5,825,000 - 6,305,979

                                          December 31, 2008
Net foreign

Off-balance currency
Assets Liabilities sheet items exposure

                             .................................Rupees in '000....................................

Pakistani Rupee 5,528,889 247,733 (447,707) 4,833,449
United States Dollar 4 - 447,707 447,711

5,528,893 247,733 - 5,281,160

39.2.3 Equity Position Risk

The Board with the recommendations of ALCO approves exposure limits applicable to investments in Trading Book.
Equity securities are perpetual assets and are classified under either Held-for-trading Portfolio or Available-
for-sale Portfolio.

The Equity Investment Committee is responsible for making investment decisions in the capital market.

Price Risk

Trading and investing in equity securities give rise to price risk. ALCO and the Investment Committee both
ensure that through prudent trading strategy and use of equity futures, the equity price risk is mitigated,
albeit to a certain extent.

Interest rate risk can arise on account of rising interest rates causing a fall in the value of assets or falling interest
rates causing an increase in the value of liabilities. While the Company is largely engaged in transactions on a 
floating rate basis in both borrowings and lending, rate reset frequency, ceilings and floors and choice of base 
rate can translate into interest rate risk.

Interest rate risk is monitored through regular reports on interest rate matching and duration estimates. 
Furthermore stress techniques are also used to estimate maximum losses in case of adverse movements in
interest rates. 
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40. GENERAL

40.1 Credit rating

The Company has been assigned credit rating of ‘AA’ (Double A) in the medium to long term and ‘A1+’ (A One Plus) in the short-
term by The Pakistan Credit Rating Agency Limited (PACRA), a SBP-approved rating agency. These ratings indicate a low expectation
of credit risk emerging from strong capacity of the Company to discharge financialobligations.

40.2 Figures have been rounded off to the nearest thousand rupees.

41. DATE OF AUTHORIZATION FOR ISSUE

The financial statements were authorized for issue on 09 March, 2010 by the Board of Directors of the Company. 
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Chief Executive     Director                       Director                Chairman
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